Public Document Pack

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham
Fire and Rescue Authority - Meeting of the Authority
Date:

Friday, 24 September 2021

Time:

10.30 am

Venue:

Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service Headquarters Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service Headquarters, Bestwood
Lodge Drive, Arnold, Nottingham, NG5 8PD

Members are requested to attend the above meeting to be held at the time, place
and date mentioned to transact the following business

Clerk to the Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority
Agenda
1

Apologies for Absence

2

Declarations of Interest

Pages

3a) To note the appointment of Councillor Nicola Heaton to the
Authority by Nottingham City Council;
3b) To appoint Councillor Nicola Heaton as a member of the
Community Safety Committee in place of Councillor Patience
Uloma Ifediora;
3c) To appoint Councillor Patience Uloma Ifediora as a member of
the Human Resources Committee
3d) To appoint a Chair of the Human Resources Committee
4

Minutes
To approve the public minutes of the meeting held on the 23 July 2021

5 - 12

5

Chair's Announcements

6

Treasury Management Annual Report 2020/21
Report of the Treasurer

13 - 24

7

Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2025
Report of the Chief Fire Officer

25 - 76

8

Chief Fire Officer Vacancy
Report of the Chief Fire Officer

77 - 80

9

National Core Code of Ethics
Report of the Chief Fire Officer

81 - 116

10

Joint Headquarters Collaboration Update
Report of the Chief Fire Officer

117 - 120

11

Annual Report of Information Governance 2020/21
Report of the Chief Fire Officer

121 - 126

12

Review of Statement of Intent
Report of the Chief Fire Officer

127 - 132

13

Environment and Sustainability Policy Update
Report of the Chief Fire Officer

133 - 138

14

Exclusion of the Public
To consider excluding the public from the meeting during consideration
of the following item in accordance with Section 100A of the Local
Government Act 1972 (under Schedule 12A, Part 1) on the basis that,
having regard to all the circumstances, the public interest in maintaining
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information

15

Exempt Minutes
To approve the exempt minutes of the meeting held on the 23 July 2021

139 - 142

Any councillor who is unable to attend the meeting and wishes to submit apologies
should do so via the Personal Assistant to the Chief Fire Officer at Fire Services
Headquarters on 0115 8388900
If you need any advice on declaring an interest in any item above, please contact
the Governance Officer shown on this agenda, if possible before the day of the
meeting.
Governance Officer:

Emma Powley
0115 8764298 8768491
emma.powley@nottinghamcity.gov.uk

Agenda, reports and minutes for all public meetings can be viewed online at:https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1

If you would like British Sign Language interpretation at the meeting, please contact the
Service at least 2 weeks in advance to book this, either by emailing enquiries@nottsfire.gov.uk or by text on SMS: 0115 824 0400

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4

Nottinghamshire & City of Nottingham Fire & Rescue Authority
MINUTES of the meeting held at Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service Headquarters Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service Headquarters, Bestwood Lodge Drive, Arnold,
Nottingham, NG5 8PD on 23 July 2021 from 10.31 am - 12.37 pm
Membership
Present
Councillor Michael Payne (Chair)
Councillor Toby Neal (Vice Chair)
Councillor Callum Bailey
Councillor Steve Battlemuch
Councillor Scott Carlton
Councillor Robert Corden
Councillor Eddie Cubley
Councillor Bethan Eddy
Councillor Sybil Fielding
Councillor Tom Hollis
Councillor Patience Uloma Ifediora
Councillor Roger Jackson
Councillor Gul Nawaz Khan
Councillor Johno Lee
Councillor Jason Zadrozny

Absent
Councillor John Clarke
Councillor Chantal Lee
Councillor Nick Raine
Commissioner Caroline Henry

Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:
Candida Brudenell
- Assistant Chief Fire Officer
Craig Parkin
- Deputy Chief Fire Officer
Ian Pritchard
- Planning Specialst
Becky Smeathers
- FA Head of Finance and Treasurer to the Fire Authority
Malcolm Townroe
- Clerk and Monitoring Officer to the the Fire Authority
Kate Morris
- Governance Officer
8

Apologies for Absence

Chief Fire Officer John Buckley
Councillor John Clarke
Commisioner Caroline Henry
Councillor Chantal Lee
Councillor Nick Raine

1

Page 5

Nottinghamshire & City of Nottingham Fire & Rescue Authority - 23.07.21

9

Declarations of Interest

Councillor Michael Payne declared an interest in agenda item 12 The Disposal of Property
Assets (exempt minute 19) because he is Deputy Leader of Gedling Council, the relevant
planning authority. He left the meeting prior to discussion and voting on this item.
Councillor Jason Zadrozny declared an interest in agenda item 12 The Disposal of Property
Assets (exempt minute 19) as a member of the planning committee of the relevant planning
authority. This did not preclude him from speaking on the matter and he did not leave the
meeting prior to discussion and voting on the item.
10

Minutes

The Authority confirmed the minutes of the meeting held on 28 May 2021 as a correct record
and they were signed by the Chair
11

Chair's Announcements

The Chair made the following announcements
(a) Despite a national relaxing of Covid restrictions some measures remain in place on
Service sites, including face coverings to be worn when moving around the building,
hand hygiene, twice weekly testing encouraged for all staff, and 50% basis return to
offices. These are being regularly reviewed and communicated;
(b) Following a request to Luke Hall MP to consider extending the ability to hold virtual
meetings a response was received refusing the request. The government is consulting
further on this but as yet no response has been made.
(c) Dates for the next HMICFRS inspection have been set. This will start week commencing
20 September 2021 and will last for 6 to 8 weeks. Further details will be provided in the
upcoming weeks.
(d) A members seminar will take place on 10 September 2021. Further details will be
communicated closer to the time.
(e) 30 July 2021 a Garden Party will be held at 2pm at Service HQ to reflect on the impact of
Covid and recognise the great work done by the Service to support communities through
the pandemic. All members are invited.
12

Draft Final Accounts 2020/21

Becky Smeathers, Head of Finance and Treasurer to the Fire Authority, presented the Draft
Final Accounts for 2020/21 to the Authority. She informed the Authority that the deadline for
publishing the accounts online was 31st July 2021 and once published they will be sent to the
auditors. She confirmed that the accounts had been prepared in line with CIPFA guidance and
that audited accounts will be brought to a future meeting for formal approval. She went on to
highlight the following:
(a) On 2 July 2021 The Finance and Resources committee received a report detailing the
provisional Outturn position for 2020/21 reporting a £1.6m surplus. £0.5million of the
underspend was allocated to the capital programme to reduce borrowing levels and just
over £1million was transferred to the Earmarked Reserves for pressures going forward.
2
Page 6

Nottinghamshire & City of Nottingham Fire & Rescue Authority - 23.07.21

Since this report was received, there have been 2 amendments, £60,000 provision to
fund additional costs relating to the McLeod case falling to the Authority rather than the
pensions provider, and £36,000 additional cost for auditors. This reduced the remaining
£98,000 to just over £2,000;
(b) These adjustments mean that there is no increase to the General Fund Reserve, which
remains at £4.989million;
(c) The Statement of accounts provided the cost of provision of service, rather than the cost
through Council Tax and grants. The highlighted pension liability will reduce in coming
years. The deficit will be met partly by scheme members and Fire Authority contributions
and a top up grant from central government;
Following questions and comments from Members the following additional information was
provided:
(d) The Auditors are expected to start work in November, but there may be delays due to
additional requirements and extra work. There have been a number of issues in recent
years with audits being increasingly delayed. There has also been sector wide issues
with prices for audits coming in well above quoted figures leaving authorities with little
room for manoeuvre. This is a well known issue and is not specific to Nottinghamshire
and has been raised with the LGA. The issues are compounded by a limited number of
auditing firms being large enough to work with Authorities and the PSAA is looking to
improve the situation with the next contract, procurement exercises are already
beginning;
(e) The pension liability is not an imminent risk to the Authority. It is valued every three years
and changes can result in a change to employer rates, this cost falls to the Authority.
Following the last increase in value the Authority received a central government grant.
This is a national issue and is reducing as affected staff members transfer into the new
pension scheme.
Resolved to note the draft Statement of Accounts for 2020/21
13

Annual Statement of Assurance 2020 - 21

Candida Brudenell, Assistant Chief Fire Officer, introduced the report presenting the Annual
Statement of Assurance 2020/21 to members for approval. She advised the Authority that it is a
statutory requirement for the Authority to provide assurance on financial, governance and
operational matters and the production of this statement contributed to that requirement,
increasing transparency and data accessibility to the public. She highlighted the following
points:
(a) The document focuses on celebrating the achievements of the service and performance
against the ambitions set out in the 2019-2022 Strategic Plan, in what has been a very
difficult year. This format has been improved to ensure better accessibility to the
information;
(b) Key achievements highlighted include reduction of incidents, improved sickness absence
and improved availability of on-call appliances. The report also highlights the additional
work done by staff in response to the Covid 19 pandemic, including urgent work with
ambulance crews, medicine and food parcel deliveries to vulnerable citizens and
vaccination roll out;
3
Page 7

Nottinghamshire & City of Nottingham Fire & Rescue Authority - 23.07.21

(c) Safe and Well visits to those most at risk were maintained as Protection activites.
During discussion the following points were highlighted:
(d) Thanks were formally offered to the Chief Fire Officer for strong leadership through the
pandemic, and to all staff, who have continued to support communities through work, not
usually associated with the Service, throughout the pandemic and still ongoing;
(e) Reduction in the number of Unwanted Fire Signals is a difficult balance to achieve,
however the number of properties attended been reduced. Coordination across the tricontrol area has helped to achieve the reduction further. This has worked along side a
reassessment of appliances sent, enforcement action and continued business safety
activity;
(f) On-Call availability is being impacted by the longer term changes in demographic across
communities. The Service is working to make On-Call opportunities more available and
attractive to the changing population. The issue is not only a local issue but is recognised
nationally as a challenge for Fire Authorities. As community leaders Elected Members
are ideally placed to help promote opportunities to the community that they may
otherwise not know exist;
(g) A more detailed report on On-Call recruitment and retention is due to be taken to both the
Human Resources and Community Safety Committees in the coming year;
(h) Committee members felt that better use of social media, across all authorities would help
to promote the work of Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service more. Developing a
more structured use of Comms across the authorities would maximise the impact
members can make when promoting opportunities within the Service;
Resolved to
(1) Approve the Annual statement of Assurance 2020-21 for publication.
14

Strategic Plan Pre-Consultation

Candida Brudenell, Assistant Chief Fire Officer, presented the report updating members on
engagement around the new Strategic Plan and informal consultation being undertaken with
communities staff and stakeholders. She advised the Committee that implementation is planned
for April 2022 and highlighted the following points:
(a) The final version of the Strategic plan for 2022-2025 will return to this committee in
February 2022 following a period of formal consultation to be formally approved. The
version presented at this meeting is the pre consultation version and will be amended
and updated as appropriate over the coming months as a result of the consultation
process;
(b) The report outlines the initial communication with staff, communities and stakeholders
that will be used to shape the plan through the pre consultation phase. Response rates
have been a little disappointing from Parish Councils with no responses to requests for
information about planned increase in housing stock and the Service will need to follow
up key areas to develop the plan;

Page 8

4

Nottinghamshire & City of Nottingham Fire & Rescue Authority - 23.07.21

(c) Responses from the staff survey are positive and encourage further work with community
groups, improved understanding of needs of the community, a focus on being a data led
organisation and improving the mobilising system;
Following comments and questions from Committee members further information was
highlighted:
(d) The Fire Service will be looking at methods of communication to establish if alternative
means would produce a better response from Local Authorities and Parish Councils.
More targeted consultation through different formats may need to be explored to ensure
community wide representation in responses;
(e) Committee members pointed out that it has been a challenging time for Parish Councils
recently, just as it has for Local Authorities, but as Parish Council meetings move back to
face to face there will be more opportunities for them to table matters such as
consultations and respond;
Resolved to endorse the approach to consultation being undertaken
15

Statement of Pay Policy

Craig Parkin, Deputy Chief Fire Officer introduced the report presenting the Pay Policy
Statement to the Fire Authority for approval in line with the requirements of the Localism Act
2011. During discussion the following points were highlighted:
(a) Main changes from the previous Statement of Pay Policy includes reference to the
gender pay reporting outcome showing a difference of 9.8%. This is due to the higher
proportion of men filling operational roles and is also seen nationally;
(b) There are a number of work streams focusing on diversity in the workforce to address
this gap although it will take time to address the disparity in numbers. Of the last two
recruitment rounds one quarter of recruits were female, however it takes time for new
staff to come through to leadership roles;
Resolved to approve the Statement of Pay Policy
16

Grenfell Tower Inquiry

Craig Parkin, Deputy Chief Fire Officer presented the report updating Members with
developments in relation to the Grenfell Tower Inquiry and the publication of the Governments
response to recommendations. He highlighted the following points:
(a) Of the 47 recommendations made by the Phase One report the Service has completed
24. For many of the outstanding actions the Service is waiting for national changes to
take place before enacting. There is lots of information still being fed back at a national
level and guidance being issued;
(b) It is likely that the actions taken by the Service in response to the Inquiry will be a focus
of the upcoming Inspection. The Service has a detailed action plan in place for
outstanding actions, based on the current guidance, this may change through legislation
and/or national guidance;

5

Page 9

Nottinghamshire & City of Nottingham Fire & Rescue Authority - 23.07.21

(c) The recommendations look at safety measures in buildings as well as response to an
incident. Fire Services have no power to enter domestic properties, with only an ability to
enter communal parts of buildings and so refurbishments and buildings of multiple
occupancy may present challenges. The Joint Audit and Inspection Team was
established between the NFRS and Nottingham City Council to offer advice and support
to responsible persons of buildings with identified issues;
(d) Following receipt of a Government grant specialist equipment has been purchased to aid
in safer evacuations. These include smoke hoods and are now available on all frontline
appliances. Remaining funds from the grant will be used for additional resources to aid
controlled evacuations from high rise buildings;
(e) Further training has been given to control room operators to enable them to give effective
fire survival guidance to anyone involved in a fire. Modifications to buildings of multiple
occupancy buildings increases the difficulty in this, however fire crews attend high risk
buildings to ensure that they are familiar with the site ;
(f) The Fire Safety Act 2021 has now gained royal ascent, this will give further remit to fire
safety inspections, for example, front doors, balconies and external cladding.
During discussion and following questions from Members the following additional information
was highlighted:
(g) Vulnerable buildings have been identified through joint work with the Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government and the Home Office. The Fire Safety Act 2021 will
grant the Service more power around enforcement;
(h) The Fire Authority is not a statutory consultee for planning applications. Layouts of
buildings are being altered through the planning process and the Fire Authority may be
unaware of them, this can cause issues when attending an incident and knowledge of
building layout is outdated due to these changes. When the Fire Service is consulted
advice given does not have to be taken. This is an issue that is being pushed nationally
through the National Fire Chiefs Council;
(i) Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service are working hard to improve its prevention and
protection offer focusing on a holistic approach. The upcoming inspection will check the
work being done and assurance can be given that at a local level the service is learning;
Resolved to
(1) Note the actions being taken by the Service in response to the Grenfell Tower
Inquiry recommendations;
(2) Note the Content of the report; and
(3) Agree to receive further updates as the Service concludes the outstanding actions.
17

Committee Outcomes

Resolved to note the report and minutes of the following meetings:

Community Safety Committee
Finance and Resources Committee
Human Resources Committee
Page 10

19 March 2021
26 March 2021
23 April 2021
6

Nottinghamshire & City of Nottingham Fire & Rescue Authority - 23.07.21

Policy and Strategy Committee
Community Safety Committee
Policy and Strategy Committee
Human Resources Committee
Finance and Resources Committee
18

30 April 2021
11 June 2021
02 July 2021
02 July 2021
02 July 2021

Exclusion of the Public

The Authority decided to exclude the public from the meeting during consideration of this/ the
remaining agenda item in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972
on the basis that, having regard to all the circumstances, the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighed the public interest in disclosing the information, as defined in
Paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act
19

The Disposal of Property Assets

Councillor Michael Payne declared an interest in this item because he is Deputy Leader of
Gedling Borough Council which is the relevant planning authority. He left the meeting prior to
discussion and voting on this item.
Councillor Jason Zadrozny declared an interest in this item as a member of the planning
committee of the relevant planning authority. This did not preclude him from speaking on the
matter and he did not leave the meeting prior to discussion and voting on the item.
As Councillor Michael Payne, Chair of the Authority had declared an interest and left the room,
Councillor Toby Neal, the Vice-Chair, chaired the rest of the meeting.
Candida Brudenell, Assistant Chief Fire Officer, introduced the report on Disposal of Property
Assets.
Resolved to agree the recommendations set out in the exempt minute

7

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham
Fire and Rescue Authority

TREASURY MANAGEMENT
ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21
Report of the Treasurer

Date:

24 September 2021

Purpose of Report:
To provide Members with an update on treasury management activity during the
2020/21 financial year.
Recommendations:
That Members note the update on treasury management activity during the 2020/21
financial year as required under the Local Government Act 2003.

CONTACT OFFICER
Name :

Becky Smeathers
Head of Finance/Treasurer to the Authority

Tel :

0115 967 0880

Email :

becky.smeathers@notts-fire.gov.uk

Media Enquiries
Contact :

Simon Cotton
(0115) 967 0880 simon.cotton@notts-fire.gov.uk

Page 13

1.

BACKGROUND

1.1 Treasury management is defined as:
“The management of the organisation’s borrowing, investments and cash
flows, its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective
control of the risks associated with these activities; and the pursuit of optimum
performance consistent with those risks.”
1.2 The Fire Authority is required by regulations issued under the Local
Government Act 2003 to produce an annual treasury management review of
activities and the actual prudential and treasury indicators for 2020/21. The
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of
Practice on Treasury Management (revised in 2017) was adopted by the Fire
Authority on 9 April 2010.
1.3 The primary requirements of the Code are as follows:
1. The creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy
Statement which sets out the policies and objectives of the Authority’s
treasury management activities.
2. The creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which
set out the manner in which the Authority will seek to achieve those
policies and objectives.
3. Receipt by the Fire Authority of an annual Treasury Management Strategy
Statement for the year ahead, a mid-year review report and an annual
report covering activities during the previous year.
4. Delegation by the Authority of responsibilities for implementing and
monitoring treasury management policies and practices and for the
execution and administration of treasury management decisions.
5. Delegation by the Authority of the role of scrutiny of treasury management
strategy and policies to a specific named body. For this Authority the
delegated body is the Finance and Resources Committee.
1.4

This annual report has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s Code of
Practice, and covers the following:


An economic review of 2020/21;



A review of Capital Activity during 2020/21 and the impact of this on the
Authority’s Capital Financing Requirement;



A review of the Investment and Cash Management Strategy during
2020/21;



Investment and cash activity during 2020/21;



A review of the year end Investments and cash position and usable
reserves;



A review of the Borrowing Strategy and borrowing activity during 2020/21;
Page 14



1.5

2.

A summary of compliance with treasury and prudential limits for 2020/21.

The Authority has appointed Link Asset Services as its external treasury
management adviser.
REPORT

ECONOMIC REVIEW
2.1

The financial year 2020/21 will go down in history as being the year of the
Covid-19 pandemic. The first national lockdown in March 2020 did huge
damage to an economy that was unprepared for such an eventuality. This
caused an economic downturn that exceeded the one caused by the financial
crisis of 2008/09. A second shorter lockdown in November 2020 had a lesser
economic impact as both businesses and individuals had become more
resilient in adapting to working in new ways, and the third lockdown in
January 2021 was less damaging still.

2.2

The Bank of England took rapid action in March 2020 at the height of the
crisis, cutting bank rate from 0.75% to 0.25% and then to 0.10%. It also
embarked on a £200bn programme of quantitative easing (the purchase of
gilts to reduce borrowing costs throughout the economy by lowering gilt
yields). The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) then increased quantitative
easing QE by £100bn in June and by £150bn in November, whilst keeping
bank rate at 0.10%.

2.3

The Government introduced various schemes to subsidise jobs while some
sectors of the economy were locked down. It also put in place a raft of other
measures to help businesses access loans from their banks, (with the
Government providing guarantees to the banks against losses), to tide them
over the lock down period when some firms had little or no income. This
support has come at a huge cost in terms of the Government’s budget deficit,
Page 15

which has ballooned to the point that the GDP to debt ratio has reached
around 100%. The Budget on 3 March 2021 increased fiscal support to the
economy in 2021 and 2022, followed by substantial tax rises in the following
three years to help to help reduce the deficit. This will help further to
strengthen the economic recovery from the pandemic and to return the
government’s finances to a balanced budget on a current expenditure and
income basis in 2025/26. This will stop the Debt to GDP ratio rising further
from 100%. An area of concern, though, is that the government’s debt is now
twice as sensitive to interest rate rises as before the pandemic due to
quantitative easing operations substituting fixed long-term debt for floating
rate debt; there is, therefore, much incentive for the Government to promote
Bank Rate staying low e.g. by using fiscal policy in conjunction with the
monetary policy action by the Bank of England to keep inflation from rising
too high, and / or by amending the Bank’s policy mandate to allow for a
higher target for inflation.
2.4

The UK’s vaccination programme has been instrumental in speeding
economic recovery and the reopening of the economy. In addition, the
household saving rate has been exceptionally high since the first lockdown in
March 2020 and so there is plenty of pent-up demand and purchasing power
stored up for services in the still-depressed sectors like restaurants, travel
and hotels now they are reopening. It is therefore expected that the UK
economy could recover to its pre-pandemic level of economic activity during
quarter 1 of 2022.

2.5

A major change has been adopted by the Bank of England in terms of
implementing its inflation target of 2%. The key addition to the Bank’s
forward guidance in August was a new phrase in the policy statement,
namely that “it does not intend to tighten monetary policy until there is clear
evidence that significant progress is being made in eliminating spare capacity
and achieving the 2% target sustainably”. That seems designed to say, in
effect, that even if inflation rises to 2% in a couple of years’ time the MPC will
not increase bank rate until they can clearly see that level of inflation is going
to be persistently above target if no action is taken. This sets a high bar for
raising bank rate and no increase is expected by March 2024, and possibly
for as long as five years. Inflation has been well under 2% during 2020/21. It
is expected to briefly peak at just over 2% towards the end of 2021, but this is
a temporary short-lived factor and so not currently a concern to the MPC.

2.6

The final Brexit agreement on 24th December 2020 eliminated a significant
downside risk for the UK economy. However, the initial agreement only
covered trade so there is further work to be done on the services sector
where temporary equivalence has been granted in both directions between
the UK and EU; that now needs to be formalised on a permanent basis.
There was much disruption to trade in January as form filling has proved to
be a formidable barrier to trade. This appears to have eased somewhat since
then but is an area that needs further work to ease difficulties, which are still
acute in some areas. The implementation of the Northern Ireland Protocol is
proving particularly problematic.

Page 16

2.7

Until recent years, world growth has been boosted by increasing globalisation
i.e. countries specialising in producing goods and commodities in which they
have an economic advantage and which they then trade with the rest of the
world. This has boosted worldwide productivity and growth, and, by lowering
costs, has also depressed inflation. However, the rise of China as an
economic superpower over the last 30 years, which now accounts for nearly
20% of total world GDP, has unbalanced the world economy. In March 2021,
western democracies implemented limited sanctions against a few officials in
charge of government policy on the Uighurs in Xinjiang; this led to a much
bigger retaliation by China and is likely to mean that the China / EU
investment deal then being negotiated, will be torn up. After the pandemic
exposed how frail extended supply lines were around the world, both factors
are now likely to lead to a sharp retrenchment of economies into two blocs of
western democracies v. autocracies. It is, therefore, likely that we are
heading into a period where there will be a reversal of world globalisation and
a decoupling of western countries from dependence on China to supply
products and vice versa. This is likely to reduce world growth rates.

REVIEW OF CAPITAL ACTIVITY IN 2020/21
2.8

2.9

The Authority undertakes capital expenditure on long term assets. These
activities may either be:


Financed immediately by way of capital or revenue resources (capital
receipts, capital grants, revenue contributions), which does not give rise to
a requirement to borrow; or



If insufficient financing is available, or if a decision is taken not to apply
resources, the capital expenditure will need to be financed by borrowing.

Actual capital expenditure forms one of the required prudential indicators.
The table below shows actual capital expenditure in the year and how this
was financed.

Capital Expenditure
Resourced By:
- Capital Grants
- Capital Receipts
- Revenue
Contributions/Earmarked
Reserves
- Borrowing
Total Financed Capital
Expenditure
2.10

2019/20
Actual
£000’s
1,858

2020/21
Revised Budget
£000’s
6,002

2020/21
Actual
£000’s
3,249

15
22

0
0
1,037

0
235
691

1,821
1,858

4,965
6,002

2,323
3,249

The 2020/21 capital budget underspent by £2.753m. Significant variances
include £313k relating to the purchase of light vehicles, £404k relating to the
Page 17

new station at Worksop and £1.155m relating to the new Joint Headquarters.
Further details of these and other variances can be found in the 2020/21
Revenue and Capital Outturn Report, which was presented to members of
the Finance and Resources Committee on 2 July 2021.
2.11

As at 31 March 2021 the Authority’s capital financing requirement was
£26,667k, which was within the prudential indicator set of £29,073k. The
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) figure represents the Authority’s
underlying need to borrow to fund capital expenditure and equates to unfinanced capital expenditure which has not yet been paid for by revenue
funding or other resources such as capital grants or receipts. The CFR is
reduced over time by way of a statutory Minimum Revenue Provision charge
to revenue which effectively charges the revenue budget for the use of capital
assets over their asset lives.

REVIEW OF THE INVESTMENT AND CASH MANAGEMENT STRATEGY
2.12 The Treasury Management Strategy approved by the Authority set out the
policies for managing investments and for giving priority to the security and
liquidity of those investments. The risk appetite of this Authority is low in
order to give priority to security of its investments. Accordingly, the following
types of low risk specified investments may be made:


Deposits with the Debt Management Agency (Government);



Term deposits with Banks and Building Societies;





Term Deposits with uncapped English and Welsh local authority
bodies;
Call deposits with Banks and Building Societies;
Triple-A rated Money Market Funds;



UK Treasury Bills;



Certificates of Deposit.



During the year, all investments were made with banks or building societies
(term deposits or call deposits) or with English local authorities.
2.13

The Authority has a maximum limit of investments with any single
counterparty of £4m. The maximum investment placed with any single
counterparty during the year was £4m.

2.14

No term deposits are made for more than 1 year without the prior approval of
the Treasurer and the Chair of Finance and Resources Committee. There
have been no term deposits made during the year due to the low interest
rates.

2.15 The selection of counterparties with a high level of creditworthiness is
achieved by reference to Link’s weekly credit list of potential counterparties.
The Link weekly credit list shows potential investment counterparties, which
are colour-coded to indicate the maximum period it is recommended that
investments are made for. The Authority has made all investments with
Page 18

counterparties during the year in accordance with the maximum periods
advised by Link.
2.16

The Authority avoids locking into longer term deals while investment rates are
at such low levels unless exceptionally attractive rates are available which
make longer term deals seem worthwhile.

2.17

In terms of cash resources, the strategy is to maintain a bank overdraft facility
of £200,000 and to continue to use cash flow forecasting to predict cash
surpluses and shortfalls. These surpluses and shortfalls are managed, and
current account balances are transferred to the Business Premium Account
on a daily basis if the interest rate is favourable. The current account was
overdrawn on four occasions during 2020/21.

2.18

The Treasury Management Strategy stated that the Authority will only use
approved counterparties from countries with a minimum sovereign credit
rating of AA from Fitch ratings. An exception to this policy can be made for
the UK in the event that its sovereign credit rating is downgraded to AA-, in
which case the Authority can continue to use counterparties from the UK. The
UK was downgraded to AA- by Fitch on 27th March 2020.

2.19

All aspects of the Annual Investment Strategy outlined for 2020/21 remained
in place throughout the year.

INVESTMENT AND CASH ACTIVITY IN 2020/21
2.20

As at 31 March 2021, the Authority held £3.5m of principal as short term
investments on the Balance Sheet and £3.0m of principal as shorter dated
“cash equivalent” investments. The Authority holds a total of £12.5m in short
term investments and cash equivalent investments as at 31 August 2021.

2.21

The investment activity during the year conformed to the approved strategy,
and the Authority had no liquidity difficulties. All investments during the year
were made with UK banks and building societies or local authorities.

2.22 Of the six call accounts held at 31 March 2021, four had been held for more
than 1 year. These accounts had notice periods ranging from 1 day to 125
days. All counterparties have their creditworthiness continually monitored
against Link’s credit listings, and had it looked likely that the maximum
recommended investment term for these institutions would have fallen below
the call account notice period then the funds would have been withdrawn.
2.23 Investment returns remained low during 2020/21. The expectation for interest
rates within the treasury management strategy for 2020/21 was that bank rate
would rise from 0.75% to 1.00% during the year. However, the Covid-19
pandemic led to the Bank of England cutting bank rate to 0.25% on 11 March
2020 and then again to 0.10% on 19 March, where it has remained.
2.24

The average 3 Month LIBID benchmark rate for the year was 0.01%. The
Authority’s investments earned an average rate of 0.21% during the year
resulting in total investment (including overnight savings interest on the

Page 19

current account) income earned of £19.8k, against a budgeted sum for
investment income of £100k.
2.25 The Treasury Management Strategy set a Weighted Average Life (WAL)
benchmark for liquidity of approximately 3 months for the Authority’s
investment portfolio. The actual WAL during 2020/21 was 45.2 days. The
Strategy also set a security benchmark of 0.08% historic risk of default. The
historic risk of default as at 31/03/21 was 0.05%.
REVIEW OF INVESTMENTS / CASH POSITION AND USABLE RESERVES
2.26 Members will be aware that the Authority’s “usable” reserves i.e. the General
Fund and Earmarked Reserves have not been fully cash backed in the past
due to the use of cash balances to support capital expenditure in previous
years. This strategy of using internally borrowed funds is considered prudent
as investment returns are low and counterparty risk is still an issue.
2.27

At 31 March 2021 the value of the Authority’s usable reserves totalled
£11.048m. The balance sheet as at the same date shows that short term
investments were valued at £3.553m and cash and cash equivalents held
totalled £4.922m. This means that reserves were not fully cash-backed at
year end, as £2.573m of cash balances were being used to support capital
expenditure. The 2020/21 Treasury Management Strategy recognised that
the use of cash balances in this way, known as “internal borrowing”, is
prudent. However, it also recognised that internal borrowing brings a different
kind of risk, as it is effectively variable rate debt. The Authority therefore has
a local indicator that limits the level of internal borrowing to 20% of the
underlying borrowing requirement. At 31 March 2021, the internal borrowing
of £2.573m was 8.9% of the underlying borrowing requirement.

REVIEW OF THE BORROWING STRATEGY AND BORROWING ACTIVITY IN
2020/21
2.28 The strategy recommended that a combination of capital receipts, internal
funds and borrowing would be used to finance capital expenditure during
2020/21. Capital receipts of £235k, borrowing of £2,323k and revenue
contributions of £691k were applied to finance expenditure.
2.29

The Authority did not take any short term borrowing during 2020/21.

2.30

The Authority repaid £53.3k in principal on PWLB annuity loans during
2020/21. No maturity loans were repaid and no new long term borrowing
was taken.

2.31

No rescheduling of debt took place, as the differential between PWLB new
borrowing rates and premature repayment rates made rescheduling
unviable.

2.32

On 1st May 2020 members of the Policy and Strategy Committee approved
the following changes to the original 2020/21 Treasury Management Strategy

Page 20

and Prudential Indicators in light of the potential challenges presented by the
Covid-19 pandemic:




Increasing the operational boundary from £31.85m to £33.85m
Increasing the authorised limit from £35.035m to £37.035m
Increase the loan maturity profile limit for borrowing under 12 months
from 20% to 30%

2.33 The Authorised Limit is the affordable borrowing limit above which the
Authority does not have the power to borrow. Total external debt as at 31
March 2020 was £26.958m, which was well within the Authorised Limit.
2.34 The Operational Boundary is the expected borrowing position of the Authority
within the year. This was set at £31.85m for 2020/21 and was subsequently
increased to £33.85m. The Operational Boundary was not exceeded at any
point during the year.
SUMMARY OF COMPLIANCE WITH TREASURY AND PRUDENTIAL LIMITS
2.35 The following indicators were approved by Members for the 2020/21 financial
year. Actual performance is shown in the final column of the table below:
Treasury or Prudential Indicator
or Limit
Estimate of Ratio of Financing
Costs to Net Revenue Stream
Estimate of Total Capital
Expenditure to be Incurred
Estimate of Capital Financing
Requirement
Operational Boundary
Authorised Limit
Upper limit for fixed rate interest
exposures
Upper limit for variable rate interest
exposures
Loan Maturity:
Under 12 months
12 months to 5 years
5 years to 10 years
10 years to 20 years
Over 20 years
Upper Limit for Principal Sums
Invested for Periods Longer than
365 Days
Local Indicator or Limit
Upper limit for internal borrowing as
a % of the Capital Financing
Requirement

Approved for 2020/21

Actual for 2020/21

5.3%

5.2%

£5,576,000

£3,249,000

£29,073,000

£26,667,000

£33,850,000
£37,035,000
100%

Not exceeded
Not exceeded
100%

30%

0%

Upper 30% Lower 0%
Upper 30% Lower 0%
Upper 75% Lower 0%
Upper 100% Lower 0%
Upper 100% Lower 30%
£2,000,000

0.2%
11.1%
13.0%
7.4%
68.3%
£0

Approved for 2020/21
Actual for 2020/21
20%
8.9%

Page 21

Lower limit for proportion of net debt
to gross debt
Upper limit for proportion of net debt
to gross debt
Investment security benchmark:
maximum historic default of
investment portfolio
3.

50%

Not breached

85%

Not breached

0.08%

0.05%

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

The financial implications of this report are set out in full within the body of the
report.
4.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT
IMPLICATIONS

There are no human resources or learning and development implications arising
from this report.
5.

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

An equality impact assessment has not been undertaken because this report gives
a review of activities rather than introducing a new policy.
6.

CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

There are no crime and disorder implications arising directly from this report.
7.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no legal implications arising directly from this report, other than the
requirement to act within the Authority’s powers when undertaking treasury
management borrowings and investments.
8.

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

Risk management is a key aspect of treasury management, and the Treasury
Management Strategy sets out the parameters within which activities will be carried
out with a view to managing credit risk, liquidity risk, re-financing risk and market
risk. The Authority has approved a prudent approach to treasury management and
this report allows Members to review how well risks have been managed during the
year.

Page 22

9.

COLLABORATION IMPLICATIONS

There are no collaboration implications arising from this report.
10.

RECOMMENDATIONS

That Members note the update on treasury management activity during the 2020/21
financial year as required under the Local Government Act 2003.
11.

BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED
DOCUMENTS)

None.

Becky Smeathers
TREASURER TO THE FIRE AUTHORITY

Page 23

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham
Fire and Rescue Authority

COMMUNITY RISK
MANAGEMENT PLAN 2022-25
Report of the Chief Fire Officer

Date:

24 September 2021

Purpose of Report:
To present Members with the draft Community Risk Management Plan 2022-25 and
seek approval to undertake consultation in relation to the new plan.

Recommendations:
It is recommended that Members:
•

Approve the content of the draft Community Risk Management Plan 2022-25.

•

Approve the consultation of the draft Community Risk Management Plan 202225 in line with the Service’s Consultation Framework.

CONTACT OFFICER
Name :

Candida Brudenell
Assistant Chief Fire Officer

Tel :

0115 967 0880

Email :

candida.brudenell@notts-fire.gov.uk

Media Enquiries
Contact :

Simon Cotton
0115 967 0880 simon.cotton@notts-fire.gov.uk

Page 25

1.

BACKGROUND

1.1

The Fire and Rescue National Framework for England (National Framework
document) states that fire and rescue authorities are required to produce an
integrated risk management plan and, in doing so, they must assess all
foreseeable fire and rescue related risks that could affect their communities.

1.2

The tenure of the Service’s current Integrated Risk Management Plan ends
on the 31st March 2022, requiring the Service to publish a new plan from 1st
April 2022.

1.3

The National Framework document also requires Integrated Risk
Management Plans (IRMPs) to be easily accessible to the public and reflect
effective consultation with the community, staff representative bodies and
partners throughout their development (and at all review stages).

1.4

In July 2021, Members approved the revised Nottinghamshire Fire and
Rescue Service Consultation Framework.

1.5

The independent Fire Standards Board have published the Community Risk
Management Planning standard in April 2021.

2.

REPORT

2.1

As part of the Service’s Year Three Strategic Priority of ‘Shaping our Future’,
the Service has undertaken a project to develop a new Integrated Risk
Management Plan (IRMP).

2.2

The National Framework document states that IRMPs must be for a minimum
duration of three years and the draft version of the plan is presented over this
timeframe. This aims to align the plan to key external factors and ensure that
the Service remains in a flexible position to address emerging challenges
over coming years.

2.3

The Service has aligned itself to the Fire Standard for Community Risk
Management Planning in producing the draft plan and the proposed plan
meets the requirements and recommendations of all current guidance.

2.4

As part of the agreed consultation framework, the Service engaged in preconsultation with the workforce, communities, and partners. This
consultation returned recommendations and observations from consultees
that have been considered in the planning for this draft.

2.5

Feedback also included most respondents recommending that the Service
aligns the name of the plan to the National Fire Chief’s Council’s and Fire
Standards Board publications: that being a Community Risk Management
Plan.

Page 26

2.6

The draft report is titled the Service’s Community Risk Management Plan
(CRMP) and is attached at Appendix A.

2.7

In compiling the draft plan, the Service has undertaken a Strategic
Assessment of Risk (SAoR) incorporating an independent Fire Cover Review
which was facilitated by an external, market-leading, company which is
engaged with the National Fire Chief’s Council and Her Majesty’s
Inspectorate for Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services.

2.8

This SAoR will be published as an appendix to the plan with links within the
main document and discharges the requirement of assessing all foreseeable
fire and rescue services risks. The CRMP has been drafted to mitigate these
risks.

2.9

The draft plan presents an overview of the Service, resources, governance,
finances, and the strategic ambition of being an ‘Outstanding’ fire and rescue
service. Within this, the plan outlines six strategic goals:
•
•
•
•
•
•

We will help people stay safe from fires and other emergencies
We will improve fire safety in the buildings people live and work in
We will respond immediately and effectively to emergency incidents
We will continue to support, develop, and diversify our professional
workforce
We will continue our improvement journey to deliver an outstanding
Service
We will manage and invest in our Service to ensure it is fit for the future

2.10

Each of these strategic goals is expanded upon within the draft plan and
captures the commitments that will be delivered through the Service’s annual
delivery plans. Progress against the approved plan will be reported back to
Members through the normal governance routes.

2.11

The plan will be hosted through the Service’s website, including for
consultation, which will facilitate members of the community to access a
range of accessibility aids including translation and dictation.

2.12

The Service has appointed an external consultation company to facilitate
independent consultation on the new CRMP. The consultation will seek
views and feedback on the Strategic Goals and commitments of the draft
CRMP from a range of stakeholders.

2.13

The company will facilitate comprehensive consultation through several
approaches including, but not limited to:
•
•
•
•
•

2.14

Online and Paper Questionnaires
Public Focus Groups
Staff Focus Groups
Stakeholder Focus Groups
Analysis of Social Media Channels

The above approaches will be augmented through engagement with:
Page 27

•
•
•
•

Employee forums (including the BAME forum, LGBTQ+ network and
Inclusion forum).
Under-represented community groups (including Mencap, Stonewall
and the British Deaf Association).
Partner agencies (including the Environment Agency, EMAS and
Nottinghamshire Police).
Representative bodies (including the FBU, Unison and FOA).

2.15

If the draft plan is approved for consultation, a 10-week consultation will be
undertaken in line with the Service’s Consultation Framework.

2.16

It is proposed that the outcomes of the consultation are reported to Members
at the February 2022 Fire Authority Meeting with the aim of agreeing a final
Community Risk Management Plan for implementation from 1st April 2022.

3.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no financial implications arising from this report.
4.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT
IMPLICATIONS

There are no Human Resource or Learning and Development implications arising
from this report.
5.

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

5.1

An equality impact assessment has been undertaken and the implications
were highlighted as neutral for all characteristics.

5.2

The equality impact assessment highlighted areas of learning from the initial
pre-consultation which will enable the full consultation to be more focussed
and improved. This includes greater focus on seldom-heard groups and
focussing on groups that were missing from previous consultations.

6.

CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report.
7.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

The Fire Authority have a statutory duty to produce an integrated risk management
plan and a requirement to fully consult, and consider the responses, on any
changes to service delivery.

Page 28

8.

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

The proposed Community Risk Management Plan addresses the requirements of
the National Framework Document to assess ‘all foreseeable fire and rescue service
risks’ and the actions that the Service will take to mitigate these.
9.

COLLABORATION IMPLICATIONS

The Service has been in close contact with neighbouring Services and partner
agencies through the formation of the proposed plan. This collaboration will
continue through the consultation and delivery phases of the CRMP.
10.

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that Members:
10.1

Approve the content of the draft Community Risk Management Plan 2022-25.

10.2

Approve the consultation of the draft Community Risk Management Plan
2022-25 in line with the Service’s Consultation Framework.

11.

BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED
DOCUMENTS)

None.

John Buckley
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER

Page 29

Community
Risk
Management
Plan
2022 - 2025
Page 30

Consultation version

Contents

Page 31

1 Introduction
5
2 Our Community Risk Management Plan
7
Our community
9
Our Service 
9
Risks to our communities and our Service
10
Our Goals 
11
We want to hear from you!
17
3 Our Community
18
Geography 
19
Population20
Economic21
Digital technology
21
Health & lifestyle
21
Buildings and infrastructure
22
4 Our Service
23
Fire stations and premises
25
5 Our Values, Culture and People
27
Our Values:
28
People strategy
29
6 Community Risk Management
31
Risks33
Fire Cover Review
38
7 Our Services
40
Prevention41
Protection47
Response51
8 What we cost and how we spend your money 
54
Income and spending
55
Capital expenditure
57
9 Governance, Monitoring and Assurance
58
Collaboration60
External Assurance 
61
10 Our Ambition 
62
Our Strategic Goals for 2022 – 2025
68
11 Improving together
91
Contact details 
92

1 Introduction

5
4

Community Risk Management Plan

Page 32
Community Risk Management Plan

1 Introduction

This plan covers the period from April
2022 through to March 2025. We will
keep you informed of our progress
against achieving the goals we have set
out in this plan at the end of each year.

2 Our Community Risk Management Plan

1 Introduction

This plan is not final, and we are
currently consulting on our CRMP – we
welcome any feedback or questions that
you might have.

2 Our Community
Risk Management
Plan

Community Risk Management Plan

Community Risk Management Plan

We are proud to present this plan to
you and we hope you find this useful,
interesting, and reassuring that we
are making every effort to serve you
effectively and efficiently.

Please let us know what you think by
emailing Talk2us@notts-fire.gov.uk
before 24 December 2021.
This will help us to shape our final plan
which will be published in April 2022.

W

We remain incredibly proud to serve you
and thank you for taking an interest in
our work.

We are delighted to share this plan with
you which explains how we will deliver
our fire and rescue service to you over
the next three years.

Best wishes,

elcome to our Community Risk
Management Plan!

In this plan we will explain the risks we
have identified, evidence why these are
potential risks and explain our plans to
mitigate them and keep you safe.
Page 33

To achieve this, we have identified six
goals for our Service and under each,
we explain the actions we plan to take to
meet them.
Ultimately, these are commitments
to you, our communities, and as an
emergency service, it is our duty to do
everything we can, within our capacity
and capability, when it comes to fulfilling
our aim of ‘Creating Safer Communities’.
6

Cllr Michael Payne
Chair of Combined Fire Authority

CFO John Buckley
Chief Fire Officer

7

In this Community Risk Management
Plan (CRMP) we first give:

Then we go into more detail about:
Community Risk Management Plan

Page 34

Community Risk Management Plan

T

o make sure we’re doing the right
things, we look at the risks for our
communities, and how we can reduce
these risks. This plan helps us make
good decisions about the services we
provide and how we make best use of
our resources.

● Communities across Nottingham and
Nottinghamshire
● Our Service
● Our staff and our Values
● Community risks
● How much we spend and how we
make best use of our resources
● How we check and control what we
do

● A summary of our six goals for the
next three years

● Our ambition, more details about our
strategic goals and our commitments
to help achieve these
● Next steps

We serve the people of Nottingham
and Nottinghamshire with a
clear purpose – Creating Safer
Communities.

2 Our Community Risk Management Plan

2 Our Community Risk Management Plan

● A summary of what we’ve thought
about

Our
community
Covering an area of 838 sq. miles,
the county is a mix of towns, villages,
farms, industrial estates, countryside
and one city. It is home to a diverse
population of 1.15 million people.
Over 650,000 of those people live
in the City of Nottingham and close
surrounding areas.
More information about our
communities is on page 18.

Our Service
We have 24 fire stations, our
training centre at Ollerton and our
headquarters.
We have now moved into a shared
headquarters with the Police, at
Sherwood Lodge.
Find out more about our Service on
page 40.

8

9

● Population changes – more of us
are living longer which increases
some fire safety risks
● The development of housing and
infrastructure in our communities
● Changes to building safety – new
laws are expected
● Terrorism – sadly this is a serious
threat in the UK
● Climate change – more extreme
weather like flooding is expected
● Pension changes - affecting the
employment of our staff
● Fire cover – making sure our fire
stations are well positioned
Find out more details about the
process we used and the key risks we
identified starting on page 33.

We have six strategic goals for the
next three years and here is a quick
summary on these.
We explain each goal in more detail,
and the actions we will to take to
achieve them, later in this plan. After
each goal, you can use links to read
more about what we are already
doing to achieve the goal and what
else we will do.

This is our Prevention work,
including our Safe and Well visits. To
achieve this we will:
● Work with you, our communities,
to reduce the number of incidents
we attend
● Maintain an understanding the
range of people who live in our
area, to help us target those most
at risk
● Build stronger links with
communities - particularly with
under-represented groups
● Increase the number of our visits
to people most at risk of fire
● Keep working with and supporting
other organisations to recognise
fire risks and ensure that people
most at risk are referred to us
● Keep developing our monitoring
and evaluation of activities to
make sure we’re effective and
reaching people in need

Page 35

● Embed the role of our
Occupational Therapist, to
provide effective, joined-up
support for people with more
complex needs
● Expand our Fire and Police
Cadets programme for young
people with an interest in what we
do

10

To find out more about our current
prevention work go to page 41.

11

2 Our Community Risk Management Plan

2 Our Community Risk Management Plan

The risks we’ve identified include:

Our Goals

Community Risk Management Plan

Community Risk Management Plan

Risks to our
communities
and our
Service

Goal 1: Help you
stay safe from
fires and other
emergencies.

● Increase the number of fire safety
audits and business safety checks
we carry out
● Develop training and processes,
and recruit staff, for extra fire safety
work that we expect from new fire
safety laws
● Encourage developers to use fire
safety measures in their plans,
such as suppression systems

● Use new high-rise residential
building audits for buildings over
11 metres
● Continue the Joint Audit and
Inspection Team with Nottingham
City Council which inspects highrisk residential premises

This goal is all about making sure
our Firefighters can be in the right
place, at the right time, with the right
equipment.
To achieve, this we will:

● Take action against any premises
owners that fail to comply with fire
safety regulations

● Review and implement new
response standards for how we
respond to different risks within
the county

● Work through the National Fire
Chiefs Council to lobby the
Government for better building
safety protection for communities

● Use our Strategic Assessment of
Risk (SAoR) and our Fire Cover
review, to look at how we can
improve our service delivery

To find out more about our current
Protection work see page 47.

● Take actions from our review of
Specialist Appliances in 2021/22.
This includes specialist high
ladder platforms, water rescue
and large animal rescue
● Make sure we train new
Firefighters as efficiently as
possible

● Offer different contracts for our
On-Call Firefighters to see if it
helps to recruit and retain these
staff
● Review how we fill specialist roles,
such as fire investigators and
specialist tactical advisors
● Improve our use of risk
information across our work areas
– Prevention, Protection and our
emergency Response. Use a new
online system to improve how
we manage the availability of our
crews and appliances
● Make sure our support structures
keep meeting the needs of the
service we deliver to communities
● Re-tender the contract for the
system we use to mobilise fire
engines. This will be done in
collaboration with our tri-service
partners – Derbyshire Fire and
Rescue Service and Leicestershire
Fire and Rescue Service
You can find out more about how we
respond to emergencies on page
51.

12

13

2 Our Community Risk Management Plan

2 Our Community Risk Management Plan

This is our Protection work. We
inspect and advise on fire safety
requirements for buildings. To
achieve this goal we will:

Goal 3: Respond
immediately and
effectively to
emergencies.

Community Risk Management Plan

Page 36

Community Risk Management Plan

Goal 2: Improve
fire safety in the
buildings you live
and work in.

Goal 5: Keep
improving
to deliver an
outstanding
service.

We recognise that we need the right
workforce to help us achieve all our
goals and aspirations, and it is vital
that we reflect the communities we
serve. To achieve this goal we will:
● Review how we recruit, review
and engage our staff to ensure
that we provide skilled and
professional services
● Engage in positive action to
promote the Fire Service as a
career choice and improve the
diversity of our workforce
● To continue with support groups
for under-represented groups

Page 37

● Continue to use the national Code
of Ethics for Fire and Rescue
Services and embed our own core
values

● Undertake a strategic workforce
review across all departments to
ensure our skills and resources
are best aligned to meet the
needs of communities
● Review and implement
our Wellbeing Strategy for
occupational and welfare support
to all our staff. This will help
to promote healthy lifestyles,
wellbeing and reduce sickness

● Update our overall Assessment
of Risk every year, which informs
how we use our resources
effectively
● Adopt new national fire standards
as they are published by the Fire
Standards Board, to ensure we
are working to best practice in
the sector

● Develop and improve our project
management, and review key
internal processes, to improve
efficiency and effectiveness

2 Our Community Risk Management Plan

2 Our Community Risk Management Plan

We have a long-term ambition to
be one of the best Fire and Rescue
Services in England by 2032,
delivering outstanding services
to our communities. To achieve
this we need to deliver excellent
performance across the organisation
every year. To do this we will:

● Meet the needs of our
communities by making sure
our services are accessible. Use
community consultation groups
and volunteering opportunities

● Build a research and
development capability to ensure
our equipment and training stays
fit for purpose
● Improve digital access to our
services
● Keep collaborating with other
organisations to achieve better
outcomes for communities
Find out more about how we’ll keep
improving on page 91.
To learn more about what this
means for our Service go to page
83.

● Run programmes to maintain
and improve the fitness of our
operational staff and reduce
musculoskeletal injuries
Learn more about our values, culture
and people on page 27.

14

Community Risk Management Plan

Community Risk Management Plan

Goal 4: Continue
to support,
develop and
diversify our
professional
workforce.

● Provide all our public-facing staff
with information about the needs
of the communities that they work
with and the risks within them, to
help make every contact with the
public count

15

Community Risk Management Plan

Page 38

Community Risk Management Plan

Goal 6: Manage
and invest in our
Service to ensure
we are fit for the
future.

This is the end of our
summary and the rest
of this plan explains our
CRMP and goals in more
detail.

2 Our Community Risk Management Plan

2 Our Community Risk Management Plan

Good financial management and
clear processes are essential to
make sure we provide value for
the public money that funds our
services. To do this we will:
● Review our Medium Term
Financial Strategy to deliver a
sustainable Service
● Strengthen our processes to
ensure we invest in activities and
projects which deliver the best
value for money and significant
benefits for communities
● Review our capital spending
programme to make sure it meets
the needs of the Service
● Replace fire engines reaching the
end of their working life over the
next three years
● Align our investment in
specialist vehichles with the
recommendations of the Special
Appliances Review
● Consider the environment and
sustainability in all that we do, and
being as green as we possibly can
be

We want to hear from you!
If you have any comments about this plan, or want to know more about how we
keep you informed, see page 91.

Find out more on page 88.
16

17

I

Community Risk Management Plan

Community Risk Management Plan

3 Our Community

n creating this plan, we have
carefully considered information
about our communities and
statistics related to fire risk and other
emergencies. The following is a
summary of key information.

Geography

3 Our Community

3 Our Community

● Nottinghamshire covers 838 sq.
miles and borders Derbyshire,
Leicestershire, Lincolnshire and
South Yorkshire
● Much of the county is rural land
and forestry, including Sherwood
Forest
● Several major rivers and canals
pass through the County,
including the River Trent
● The County is made up of eight
local authority areas, with nine
market towns and one City

Page 39

18

19

households, and this is
projected to rise by 8%
over the next 10 years

 31% are from Mixed or Multiple
ethnic groups

● Over 87% of people speak English.
The most common other languages
21% of County residents
spoken include Polish, Urdu, Chinese
and 11% of City residents
(other than Mandarin or Cantonese),
are aged 65 or over. A 7.4%
Punjabi, Arabic, Persian/Farsi,
increase in this age group is
Kurdish, French, Portuguese and
expected by 2025
Hungarian
We have diverse
communities in both the
City and wider County, and
from the 2011 Census our
understanding of ethnicities
in our area is as follows.
This information will be
updated once we have
the results from the 2021
census.

20

● There is a range of economic
performance levels across the whole
county. Of all 343 local authority
areas in England:
 Nottingham City is the 11th most
deprived
 Mansfield is the 46th most
deprived
 Rushcliffe is 314th, so is one
of the 30 most affluent areas in
England

Health &
lifestyle
● Overall, life expectancy in the City of
Nottingham is two years less than the
national average. However, within City
areas, life expectancy does vary by
over eight years, when looking at the
most and least deprived areas.

● Life expectancy in the County is
similar to the national average.
However it does vary by nine years for
men and over seven years for women,
● People in employment (aged16-64 in
when looking at the most and least
2018/19):
deprived areas
 In the County this is 74%
● 17% of our adult population in
 In the City this is 64%
Nottinghamshire smoke, about
● In the City, 19% of working age
150,000 people
adults claim benefits. With 3.1%
● Two thirds of adults in the County are
of working age adults out of work
classed as overweight or obese.
because of ill-health or caring
● Around 8,000 people are admitted to
responsibilities
hospital each year for alcohol related
reasons. This is a third higher than the
national average

Digital
technology

● Around 8% of Nottinghamshire
residents have never used the
internet
● 93.4% of over 16’s in the City have
recently used the internet (up from
74.4% in 2014)
● 89.2% of over 16’s in the County
have recently used the internet (up
from 85.5% in 2014)

● 1,347 people were killed or seriously
injured on our roads between 2016
and 2018
● It is estimated 13,200 people over the
age of 65 in our County are living with
dementia. Dementia is projected to
increase to 17% across England by
2025
● 1,265 people over the age of 65 were
admitted with hip fractures in 2018/19.

21

3 Our Community

3 Our Community

From the 2011 Census:
Our County has a
population of 1.15m people, ● 28.5% of City residents are from a
with 70% living in urban
BAME background
areas
Of which:
More than half the County’s
 42% are Asian or Asian British
population live in the City of
Nottingham and immediate
 32% are Black African and
surrounding areas – this is
Caribbean or Black British
the 9th largest urban area in
 21% are from Mixed or Multiple
the UK. This area includes
ethnic groups
over 60,000 students from
● 4.5% of County residents are from a
our two universities
BAME background
The City has over 130,000
homes, and is projected to
Of which:
rise by 5% over the next 10
 49% are Asian or Asian British
years
 15% are Black African and
The remainder of the
Caribbean or Black British
County has 361,809

Economic

Community Risk Management Plan

Page 40

Community Risk Management Plan

Population

● We have over 2,000 multi-storey
buildings more than 11m in height

4 Our Services

3 Our Community

● We have over 4,600 listed buildings,
with 49 buildings on the Heritage at
Risk Register
● Six sites are subject regulations for
the Control of Major Accident Hazards
(COMAH)
● Within the County there are 3,500
miles of roads, 17 wind farms and 31
solar farms
● We have a tram network covering over
20 miles

Page 41

22

Community Risk Management Plan

Community Risk Management Plan

Buildings and
infrastructure

4 Our Service

23

			

Wholetime

			

Day shift crewing

			

On-call

		

MISTERTON

Non station

HARWORTH

WFU		

Water and foam unit

SRU

Specialist Rescue Unit

HVP

High Volume Pump

● Two stations have a wholetime
crew on duty during the day and
are staffed by on-call firefighters
in the evenings and overnight.

HL 		

Hose Layer

EPU 		

Environmental Protection 			

We have a fleet of:

CS 		

Command Support

AR 		

Animal Rescue

OV		

Outreach Vehicle

WU

Welfare Unit

● 30 fire engines.
● Specialist vehicles including:
 Two aerial ladder platforms

WFU

RETFORD

WORKSOP

Unit
TUXFORD
HL

WARSOP
AR

SDC
EDWINSTOWE

MANSFIELD

 Specialist water and animal
rescue vehicles

FI

CSU

COLLINGHAM

 Command and welfare support
units
We share some of our fire
stations with partners, including
our emergency response hub at
Hucknall, which we share with the
police and ambulance service. We
also have a joint fire and police
station at West Bridgford.

4 Our Services

4 Our Services

● Twelve stations staffed by oncall crews. These are people who
carry a pager which will alert them
to attend their local fire station
when an emergency incident
occurs.

Fire stations and premises

Community Risk Management Plan

● Ten wholetime stations, with
crews on duty 24 hours a day,
every day.

Page 42

Community Risk Management Plan

W

e have 24 fire stations across
Nottinghamshire. This is made
up of:

BLIDWORTH

HVP

ASHFIELD

HQ
SOUTHWELL

SRU

NEWARK

HUCKNALL
ARNOLD

EASTWOOD

CARLTON

EPU

STOCKHILL
STAPLEFORD

LONDON
ROAD

HIGHFIELDS

SRU

OV

BINGHAM

WU

WEST
BRIDGFORD

AR

EAST LEAKE

24

25

● Attended almost 9,000 incidents.
This is 15% less than we did five
years ago (2017/18)
● Nearly 3,000 of these incidents
were fires. This is 11% less than in
2017/18

5 Our Values,
Culture and People

Community Risk Management Plan

Community Risk Management Plan

From April 2020 to March 2021, we:

● Rescued almost 1,200 people who
were at immediate risk of harm

5 Our Culture, Values and People

4 Our Services

● Attended over 460 road traffic
collisions – a 7% reduction from
2017/18
● Responded to 3,828 calls to false
alarms – down by 14% over the
last two years
● Completed almost 5,900 Safe and
Well Visits – 40% more than we did
during 2018/19
● Completed 336 building fire safety
audits and 510 desktop reviews.
This work was significantly affected
by the pandemic
● On average, arrived at incidents
in seven minutes and 50 seconds.
We aim to arrive at all incidents in
an average of eight minutes from
the time we send the fire engine to
you

Page 43

26

27

How our Behavioural Framework relates to the
NFCC Core Code of Ethics

IC

S

E OF

Understand

T H ER S

H
ET

Be proactive
and helpful

Challenge
inappropriate
behaviour

WE

NAL

Take
pride in
appearance
and
standards

A

SIO

SHIP
ER
AD

COD

meet needs
of others

TO

Be an
ambassador
and role
model

INTE
GR
I

TY

C

ES

TTING OUR
PU
C

N
SITY, AND IN
ER
C
IV

Y,
D

EC

C

PECT
RES

AN

SP

HI

TY

UE

Care equally
for everyone

adaptable

S

C

Be

ND

L
VA

RE

NITIES FIR
ST
MU
OM

DIGNI

FC

N

WE

28

Listen
carefully to
colleagues and
communities

D

C

N
SIO
LU

Understand
each other’s
challenges

Working as one team to create
safer communities.

FC

C OD E O F E T

TO

OF

Develop
positive
relationships

Value the
contributions
of colleagues

Being professional in all that
we do by being the best we
can be - This is
done by behaving with
integrity and taking personal
responsibility for our behaviour
and decisions.

Innovate to
improve the
service or
workplace

Learn
from
mistakes

PR

AM
E
T

OP
EN

E
NG
HA

ON
E

Being open to change and
understanding the
need to improve - This means we
open ourselves up to new ideas
and become a more sustainable
and stable organisation, ready for
the future.

LE

Valuing and respecting others
- By treating our staff, our
community and our service
users with respect and
consideration, we become a
more customer-focused and
inclusive organisation.

We’ll continue to use nationally agreed
professional standards to train our staff
and deliver our services. This includes
staff from Response, Prevention,
Protection and Corporate Support.

AR

E

29

5 Our Culture, Values and People

5 Our Culture, Values and People

Our Values:

Our People Strategy explains how
we invest in recruiting and training
all our staff, so they have the right
competencies to deliver a modern,
professional, and respected fire and
rescue service that communities have
confidence in. We believe our values,
culture, and the skills of our staff
support our learning and understanding
of the needs of communities across the
City and County.

EQUALIT

Our Service Values overlap the new
England Fire and Rescue Services Code
of Ethics. Our Service Values are clear
on the standards of behaviour that we
expect from all our staff, and are also a
way to measure our performance.

We’re committed to our public service
equality duties. We believe becoming
a more representative Service is key
to fully engaging our communities and
delivering a service fit for the future.
We actively work hard to be a more
diverse Service and to be more reflective
of the communities we serve. We’ve
used targeted promotion of career
opportunities to under-represented
groups and will continue this.

Community Risk Management Plan

People
strategy

Page 44

Community Risk Management Plan

O

ur aim is ‘Creating Safer
Communities’ across
Nottinghamshire. Our Service Values
ensure that our staff put communities
first and at the heart of all that we do.

6 Community Risk Management Planning

5 Our Culture, Values and People

Our Wellbeing Strategy clearly
demonstrates the commitment we
have to our staff, and the important
support we provide for their physical
and mental wellbeing. We believe
that by looking after our staff, they
help us to deliver to best service
possible.

6 Community Risk
Management

Community Risk Management Plan

Community Risk Management Plan

Wellbeing
strategy

Between 2022 and 2025, we’ll run
an updated staff survey. This will
include new sections on how we
welcome new staff and how we can
improve the organisation internally.
Staff surveys help us check how
we’re doing to support our people,
who are our most valuable asset.
If you’re interested in a career in our
fire and rescue service, either as a
Firefighter or as part of our support
teams, you can find information
about our current vacancies and
recruitment events on our website.

Page 45

30

31

● Put in place appropriate measures
to reduce those risks
We’ve done this through this
Community Risk Management Plan
(CRMP).

In our SAoR we considered
political, economic, socio-cultural,
technological, environmental, legal
and organisational factors. We also
analysed our current fire cover
arrangements for going to fire and
rescue incidents.

For each of these three years we’ll
publish an Annual Delivery Plan.
Each year’s plan will drive the dayto-day activities of our Service.
The annual plans will include key
performance indicators, so we can
see how we’re doing. At the end
of each year we’ll report on our
progress and performance in our
Annual Statement of Assurance.

Risks
Our full Strategic Assessment of Risk
(SAoR) is available on our website. The
key issues we identified in our SAoR are
outlined below, along with how we plan
to mitigate these risks.

Political factors
Fire sector reform
● The Fire Standards Board continues
to develop national professional
standards for the Fire and Rescue
sector
● Recommendations in the annual
State of Fire reports produced
by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of
Constabulary and Fire & Rescue
Services (HMICFRS) propose
changes to the way the fire service
currently operates – including
changes to governance and the
terms and conditions of Firefighters
● The Fire and Rescue National
Framework for England is updated
every few years. The current
framework was published in 2018
and a revision is expected within the
lifetime of this plan
To mitigate the risks arising from
these areas we will:
● Continue to adopt new professional
fire standards into our ways of
working, as they are published
● Keep a watching brief on other sector
reforms

32

33

6 Community Risk Management Planning

6 Community Risk Management Planning

To form our CRMP, we started with
a Strategic Assessment of Risk
(SAoR).

From the findings from our SAoR we
then developed our strategic goals
for the next three years. These goals
are supported by detailed strategies
explaining how we will deliver each
goal.

Community Risk Management Plan

● Identify and assess all foreseeable
fire and rescue related risks
that could affect the County of
Nottinghamshire
Page 46

Community Risk Management Plan

T

he Fire Authority has a legal duty
to:

The Government’s Comprehensive
Spending Review gives a clear
financial settlement for fire services
for the next three years. This lets us
plan with more certainty and allows
us to have a medium-term focus.
● Continue to update our MediumTerm Financial Strategy (MTFS)

Firefighter Pension
Schemes
Legal rulings on firefighter pension
scheme changes are likely to result
in increased costs and workloads for
pension scheme administration. We
expect the costs of this to be covered
by the Government, but there’s a risk
that some costs will fall to the Fire
Authority.
● We will monitor this through our
Financial Risks Register.

Population changes
Our communities continue to grow
and become more diverse. People
are typically living longer and more
people are living alone.
Sadly, statistics show that as people
live longer they are more likely to
have mobility issues or long-term
health conditions, such as dementia.
This means people can become
more likely to have accidents or fires
in their home.
We will continue to review our
Prevention, Protection and Response
work to make sure we’re effective
and giving equality of access to our
services. To mitigate this area of risk
we will:
● Continue our data-led approach
to offer fire prevention advice to
people most at risk
● Continue to develop our
partnerships with health and social
care agencies to deliver joined-up
services for individual needs

Page 47

● Further develop our relationships
within communities, ensuring our
staff are able to tailor our services
to be relevant and accessible to
everyone

● Build new homes and business
premises
● Develop transport infrastructure
To ensure the safety of our communities
we will continue to:
● Provide regulated fire safety advice
to developers to ensure new
developments are compliant and
to encourage high standards of fire
protection
● Ensure our Firefighters have upto-date risk information about new
developments

Terrorism
Terrorism continues to be a serious
threat in the UK. This threat from
extremism means we must remain
vigilant and ready to respond. We have
assets that are on national standby to
help in the event of an attack anywhere
in the Country.
We will:
● Monitor the national and local threat
levels and ensure the competence
and skills of our workforce to
respond to these types of incidents

Digital services
IT systems and digital technologies
give opportunities to deliver better
outcomes for our staff and communities.
The improved capability and availability
of mobile technology means we can
provide better access to information
for Firefighters at incidents – improving
their safety and reducing the risk to the
public.
● Review our use of IT and what
emerging technologies are available
to help improve our performance
There has been a significant increase
in the number of internet users across
all age groups. However, there is also
a significant proportion of people in
Nottinghamshire who have never used
the internet.
We will:
● Maintain equality of access to our
services for those who are not
internet users

Legal factors
Changes to building safety
legislation
New legislation relating to how we
inspect buildings will come into effect
during the life of this plan.
● Adapt our ways of working to
incorporate the changes required to
meet our statutory obligations

34

35

6 Community Risk Management Planning

6 Community Risk Management Planning

We will:

Public finances

Significant regeneration activity is
underway across Nottinghamshire to:

Technological
factors

Community Risk Management Plan

Community Risk Management Plan

Economic factors

Socio-cultural
factors

Housing and infrastructure
developments

This is changing the type of incidents
we attend:

● Wetter weather is leading to more
localised and wide-scale flooding
● Increased numbers of storms can
lead to damage to structures and
properties
Nottinghamshire continues to
see growth in renewable energy
production, such as wind and
solar farms, and increasing use of
alternatively fuelled vehicles.
We will:
● Ensure our firefighters’ skills and
equipment keep pace with this
area of change

Workforce

In a competitive recruitment market,
we need to ensure we offer appropriate
Through our workforce planning, we
rates of pay, benefits and development
ensure the Service has the optimum
number of employees with the right skills opportunities to attract and retain the
right people. We want to be an employer
to deliver our services professionally,
of choice.
effectively and safely. There are a
number of challenges we face to ensure
that we meet current and changing
demands.

Societal changes have made it
increasingly difficult to recruit and retain
on-call Firefighters. This means we will
have to continue to review our approach
and find innovative solutions.

We will:

● Ensure that our Workforce Plan is
reviewed and we continue to adapt
our ways of working to recruit and
retain the people with the skills,
knowledge and experience we need
to be successful

During the life of this plan there will be
changes to public sector pensions. This
is likely to affect us in several ways:
● Pension changes mean that in
2022/2023 we are likely to see an
increasing number of our operational
staff retire. This will create increased
demand for recruitment, training and
development
● The extension of the retirement age
also means that we have to adapt to
ensure that our operational staff stay
fit, healthy and competent for longer

36

37

6 Community Risk Management Planning

6 Community Risk Management Planning

● Hot summers can lead to
increased forestry and outdoor
fires

Organisational
factors

Community Risk Management Plan

Climate Change
Page 48

Community Risk Management Plan

Environmental
factors

Alongside the SAoR we also undertake
a Fire Cover Review (FCR). A FCR is
a way of using data to work out which
parts of the County are most at risk of
fire and other emergencies.

Special service

False alarms

This analysis shows a number of potential
areas of under and over provision in our
current arrangements. To ensure we
continue to deliver the most efficient and
effective service to our communities, we
will undertake further evaluations using
both the SAoR and FCR, along with other
sources of information, during the lifetime
of this plan.

6 Community Risk Management Planning

Figure 2 - Location of incidents by type

The review used multiple data sets
including:
● Health data
● Demographic data
● Deprivation data

2-Year Sample (January 2018 – December 2020*)

● Census data

Overall

Primary Fire

Secondary Fire

Chimney Fire

0.60

● Crime data
● Over ten years of incident data

0.50

For example, Figure 1 shows where
fires and other incidents occur most
often across the County. Figure 2
shows where different incident types
most often occur. Figure 3 shows at
time of the day fires are most likely to
occur.

Page 49

Average Hourly Incidents

6 Community Risk Management Planning

In 2021, we commissioned an
independent sector specialist to
undertake our most in-depth FCR
to date. This provided us with a
comprehensive assessment of risk and
detailed analysis of when, where and
what incidents are most likely to occur
across our County.

Fire

Community Risk Management Plan

Community Risk Management Plan

Fire Cover
Review

This analysis helps us make sure we have
our fire stations and fire engines located
where they are most likely to be needed.
It also helps us target our Prevention
activities at those communities where we
can have the greatest impact. We refer to
this approach as ‘resourcing to risk’.

0.40

0.30

0.20

0.10

0.00

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

Hour of the day
*Excluding March, April, May and November 2020

38

Figure 1 - Location of fire incidents

Figure 3 - Demand by hour - Fire

39

We have a legal duty, under the Fire and
Rescue Services Act 2004, to prevent
fires and other emergencies.

Supporting
vulnerable
individuals
We know there are some lifestyle factors
which put people at greater risk of harm
in their home. Our CHARLIE profile helps
us and our community partners identify
people at a higher risk:
● Care and support
● Hoarding
● Alcohol
● Reduced mobility
● Lives alone
● Inappropriate smoking
● Elderly.
We train our partners in other sectors
to raise awareness of fire risks in the
home, including by using the CHARLIE
profile to help identify people who would
benefit from a Safe and Well Visit from
us.

40

We are one of a small number of UK
fire services in the country to employ
an Occupational Therapist (OT). Our
OT has specialist knowledge and links
to community health teams, helping us
meet the needs of the most vulnerable
people in our communities.

Arson
Arson can have a significant impact on
communities. In 2020/21 we attended
over 1,400 deliberate fires.
We work with young people aged
between four and 17 who are referred
to us because of concerns around
fire-setting. We provide one-to-one
education in fire awareness and the
consequences of starting fires. We
also deliver the ‘Firesafe’ programme
to young people aged between 12 and
17 who have been convicted of arson
and are referred to us by the Youth
Offending Service. The University of
Nottingham also work with us to provide
psychoeducational counselling to young
people who persistently start fires.
All our staff receive regular safeguarding
training and we work with Social Care
services to ensure that vulnerable
individuals are identified and their needs
are supported.
41

7 Our Services

7 Our Services

Our Prevention work is vital to reducing
the number and impact of emergency
incidents. We use our understanding of
our communities to target efforts where
they are most needed and will have the
greatest impact.

During our visit, we may identify other
needs and, with the consent of the
person involved, we can refer to partner
agencies.

Community Risk Management Plan

Page 50

Community Risk Management Plan

7 Our Services

Prevention

Through our Safe and Well Visits we
provide fire safety advice on individual
household risks. We can fit and test
smoke alarms and arrange for other
safety measures.

The OT is able to provide equipment,
adapt activities and collaborate with
professional partners to address
individuals needs.

?
E
I
L
R
A
H
C
a
w
o
n
k
u
Do yo

7 Our Services

7 Our Services

Many of the risk factors for fire
are aligned to those for ill health,
such as falls, frailty, mental ill
health and social isolation. In 2018,
we seconded an occupational
therapist (OT) from Nottinghamshire
Healthcare NHS Trust to provide an
integrated approach in supporting
people identified as being at a higher
risk of fires in the home.

Community Risk Management Plan

Community Risk Management Plan

Case Study occupational
therapist

C

M

Y

CM

MY

CY

CMY

K

One county resident said:
“Becky, the OT, has been a godsend.
She has been absolutely amazing.
She is really knowledgeable about
other services which could help me
and has actually got things done
– She has spoken with my GP and
had equipment installed to help
with preventing falls. More services
should have an OT as it really is
preventing incidents.”

Statistics show that certain people ARE known to be more at
Do you recognise this person?
C are and support needs
H oarding and mental

Page 51

health issues
A lcohol and medication
R educed mobility
L ives alone
I nappropriate smoking
E lderly – 65+

If you know somebody who displays
one or more of these characteristics
get in touch today – you could save
their life.
You can contact us, to organise
a FREE Safe & Well Check via
0800 022 3235. Alternatively, visit
our website
to make a referral.

If you think that you or someone you know could benefit from further advice or help
from us please fill out a Safe and Well referral.

42

43

We are embedded in local partnership
networks to ensure a joined-up
approach in promoting community
safety initiatives and supporting
people and families with diverse
needs. Following the death of a young
man at Colwick Lake, we worked in
collaboration with Nottinghamshire
Water Safety Partnership to improve
safety precautions in the area such as
improving signage and installing throw
lines, with the aim of preventing further
loss of life.

● Work with young people through our
schools education program
● Engage with young drivers to
promote road safety
● Run targeted campaigns to promote
home safety in high risk areas
● Run themed events such as water
safety awareness at key sites
● Deliver a Fire and Police Cadet
programme which we hope to
expand

We also have a leading role in
the Nottinghamshire Road Safety
Partnership.

● Educate and reassure local
communities after serious incidents
to prevent similar incidents from
happening. For example, after a
house fire, water rescue or road
traffic collision

We have close links with a range of
community and faith-based groups.
This helps us to understand the specific
needs of local groups and allows
us to provide targeted and tailored
interventions.

Case Study –
Safety Zone
Each year with the Nottinghamshire
Safety Partnership, we deliver
Safety Zone education to around
3,500 year five and six school
children.
These events, held at Ashfield
fire station, Ranby House and
Holme Pierrepont, involve partners
including Nottinghamshire Police,
EMAS, St Johns Ambulance, RNLI
and Western Power. We deliver
a range of interactive safety and
education sessions based on:

7 Our Services

Our community engagement activities
help raise awareness, reduce risk and
prevent incidents. As part of these
activities we:

Community Risk Management Plan

7 Our Services

Integration and
collaboration

Page 52

Community Risk Management Plan

Community
engagement

● Fire safety in the home
● First aid and CPR
● Knife crime
● Railway safety and safe travel
● Water safety and drowning
prevention
● Electrical safety
One pupil wrote “I really enjoyed it
and wish I could do it again. All of
the sessions taught me something
new. I will definitely practice the
things I have learnt.”

44

45

In the event of a serious fire, we
attend the scene to gather evidence
and determine the likely cause of
the fire. The findings help us shape
our future Prevention and Protection
activities to reduce the likelihood of
similar incidents, and reduce any
casualties or loss of life.

Our Protection work is focused on
keeping people safe in buildings that
are protected by the Regulatory Reform
(Fire Safety) Order 2005. This includes
business premises, hospitals and
care homes, high-rise buildings and
apartment blocks. We work hard to
worth with businesses to ensure their
safety, minimise the impact of incidents
if they occur and promote the City and
County as a safe place to live, work and
visit.

If you see someone setting a
deliberate fire then you should report
it immediately to us or the police by
calling 999.
If you know any information
about deliberate fire setting in
your community, you can report it
anonymously to FireStoppers.

Be a
FireStopper.
Deliberate fires put
people at risk.

Page 53

46

Business education
and engagement
We provide businesses with guidance
and support to start up, operate and
grow safely while complying with fire
safety legislation. This support includes
advice on business continuity so that
businesses can be up and running
again quickly in the event of a fire. We
are part of local business engagement
networks and offer information through
our website, social media and regular
seminars.
A large number of incidents we respond
to each year turn out to be false alarms.
We are also frequently called to release
people from lifts. Over recent years, our
proactive interventions have significantly
reduced both types of incidents. We
work with the people responsible for the
buildings to identify the causes of the
problems and reduce the frequency of
those incidents.
We provide additional support, safety
advice and reassurance to businesses
that have been affected by a fire in their
neighbourhood, to reduce the likelihood
of similar incidents in the future.

47

7 Our Services

7 Our Services

Where the cause of a fire is
suspicious, we work with police
Crime Scene Investigators to
gather evidence to support criminal
investigations.

Protection

Community Risk Management Plan

Community Risk Management Plan

Fire investigation

● Risk to life

We maintain excellent relationships
with other enforcement agencies and
continually share information which can
lead to joint enforcement practices and
better community outcomes.
If you have a concern about fire safety in
a regulated building, you can report it to
us for investigation.

● Impact on the environment
This means we target our resources
at premises we determine to be at the
greatest risk in the event of a fire – for
example hotels, high-rise buildings and
care homes.
The highest risk buildings are inspected
most frequently. We liaise with the
individuals who are legally responsible
for the buildings to address any areas
of concern and ensure compliance with
fire safety regulations. Where necessary,
we use our enforcement and regulatory
powers to restrict or prohibit the use of
buildings in the interest of public safety.
We prosecute those who fail to take the
necessary actions to make buildings
safe.
We also carry out business safety
checks on premises with a lower overall
risk classification but have specific
characteristics which are known
hazards. For example, shops with
sleeping accommodation above them.
Where these checks raise causes for
concern, we undertake a full fire safety
audit.

48

Consultations
We are consulted on licensing
applications to ensure premises meet
fire safety standards.
We are part of the consultation process
for all planning applications and work
with property developers and building
control officers to ensure that all new
developments are compliant with fire
safety legislation. We advocate the
installation of fire suppression systems
such as sprinkler systems, which can
limit the risk to life and the damage to
property in the event of a fire. We have
worked collaboratively with Nottingham
City Homes on this issue, and as a
result, sprinkler systems are now being
retrofitted into all Nottingham City
Homes high-rise buildings.

Case Study –
Joint authority
and Inspection
Team
Our Protection team and officers
from Nottingham City Council,
which includes Environmental
Health and enforcement officers,
have come together to form a Joint
Authority and Inspection Team
(JAIT).

7 Our Services

7 Our Services

● Commercial impact to the local
community

We also audit premises in the aftermath
of a fire – providing advice to the
business owners about how to prevent
any future incidents and to ensure the
building is safe.

Community Risk Management Plan

We have a statutory duty to enforce the
Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order
2005. We do this through a programme
of inspections using a risk-based
approach. We classify all premises
according to:

Page 54

Community Risk Management Plan

Fire safety
inspections

The JAIT was set up after the
Grenfell Tower tragedy and an
independent review of building
regulations and fire safety was
commissioned by the Government.
The role of the team is to audit and
inspect residential buildings in the
City of Nottingham to ensure the
safety of residents.
In the first year the JAIT identified
that over 80% of the buildings
inspected needed remedial action
to improve the safety of the
residents.

49

We work with other Fire and Rescue
Services and sector bodies, such
as the National Fire Chiefs Council
(NFCC), to share learning and
best practice, and to campaign for
improvements to fire safety.

Response
Responding to
incidents

We share a Joint Control Room with
Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service.
Together we are also part of a triservice Control Room arrangement
with Leicestershire Fire and Rescue
Service. This means we can mobilise
the nearest fire engine to an incident
even if it comes from another
County. We call this borderless
mobilising. This means we can get
help to where it’s needed as quickly
and effectively as possible, which
provides a high level of resilience.

We arrive at the scene of an incident
prepared to deal with a wide range of
risks and hazards. We have access
to detailed information about known
risks at sites using Mobile Data
Terminals installed in our fire engines.
We use National Operational
Guidance (NOG). This is a
standardised set of procedures,
information and guidance that set
out how to deal safely and effectively
with different types of incidents that
Firefighters may encounter. The aim
of NOG is to identify best practice
and develop standardised ways of
working across all fire services. We
have played a leading role in the East
Midlands region in developing and
implementing NOG.

7 Our Services

7 Our Services

When we receive a 999 call for help,
we respond immediately with the
nearest appropriate fire engines and
specialist equipment for the size and
type of incident. Our aim is always
to deal effectively and efficiently
with the incident to save life and
limit the damage to property and the
environment.

Community Risk Management Plan

Community Risk Management Plan

Collaboration

Page 55

50

51

We have around 430 wholetime
firefighters and a further 250 on-call
firefighters. They are trained to a high
standard through:

● Practical and face-to-face training
at our Service Development Centre
● Training exercises for different
types of incidents
● E-learning
To ensure skills, knowledge and
competence are maintained,
Firefighters use a programme
of Continuous Professional
Development (CPD). Their skills in
core competences are regularly
assessed and revalidated. All our
ways of working are aligned to NOG.
Training exercises are an important
way to test procedures and practice
dealing with types of incidents
which don’t happen often. We
have a programme of exercises
each year, many involving other
agencies and other fire services,
the police and ambulance services,
the Local Resilience Forum and the
Environment Agency. These multiagency exercises provide reassurance
that in the event of a large or complex
incident, emergency responders will
be able to work together safely and
effectively.

52

We have agreements with our
neighbouring fire services to receive
and provide operational support.
This means we can call on other
fire services for assistance when
we need it. For example, if we’re
busy with a large single incident
or many smaller incidents, or if
we need specialist support. These
agreements mean we have a high
level of resilience.
Using the Joint Emergency Services
Interoperability Program (JESIP)
principles, we work alongside other
emergency services. Using these
common operating principles we
deal with incidents effectively and
minimise impact to our communities.
Many larger, technical or complex
emergencies require multiple
partners to work together to resolve
the incident. We are an active
member of the Nottinghamshire
Local Resilience Forum. This
statutory partnership, of emergency
services and other key partners,
works together to share skills,
information and expertise to
build, test and exercise the local
Community Risk Register. This
ensures all partners are aware of
foreseeable events, and that plans
are ready for an effective response
when needed.

National resilience
In recent years, we have attended
several serious incidents nationally.
These include providing support with
widescale floods in Lincolnshire,
large moorland fires in Lancashire
and a collapsed dam in Derbyshire.
The National Resilience Capabilities
Programme (NRCP) is the
Government’s central programme to
increase the capability to respond to
major incidents. As part of this, many
fire services have specialist vehicles
called ‘national assets’. These can
be used by the fire service which
has them to respond locally, or if
required, regionally or nationally.

Case Study –
flooding in South
Yorkshire flooding
In November 2019 we were called
to support South Yorkshire Fire
and Rescue Service (SYFRS)
with widescale flooding in the
Sykehouse area. We sent our High
Volume Pump crew who supported
the incident for a number of days,
to remove large volumes of flood
water and limit the impact to the
local community.

7 Our Services

7 Our Services

● Drills

Local resilience

Community Risk Management Plan

Page 56

Community Risk Management Plan

Training and
competence

Following this incident a letter
was received from the Chief Fire
Officer of SYFRS thanking us for
our support, and giving particular
praise for the positivity and
professionalism of our crew.

53

We strive to provide the public with
‘value for money’ services. Over recent
years we have worked hard to make
efficiencies to ensure that services are
maintained within our available funding.

The Service is mainly funded from a
combination of council tax, business
rates and Government grants. Potential
changes to Government grant and
business rates income, along with
increased pay and pension costs means
that, although we continue to be robust
in our approach to financial planning, we
will need to react to these uncertainties
as the implications become clear.
Our Medium Term Financial Strategy
(MTFS) sets out how our finances will be
managed. The MTFS in future years will
reflect the priorities outlined within this
plan.

The estimated cost for providing our
services across Nottinghamshire during
Supplies and
2021/22 is £45.3m. The council tax
services, 9.4%
charge to fund the fire Service was £1.60
Transport
costs,
Support services,
per week for a Band D property. This
3.7%
0.4%
compares with a national average of
Capital financing £1.54 per week across other standalone
fire authorities.
costs, 5.1%

Page 57

Employee costs,
75.5%

Our budget is confirmed by the Fire
Authority in February each year. The
funding for the period of this plan, based
on known expenditure and a set of
assumptions as presented in the MTFS,
shows we are likely to experience a
shortfall in funding over the next two
years before returning to a balanced
budget in the final year of this CRMP.

Premises related
expenditure, 5.8%
54

55

8 What we cost and how we spend your money

8 What we cost and how we spend your money

How our budget is spent

Cost of the Service
and how it is funded

Community Risk Management Plan

Community Risk Management Plan

8 What we cost and
how we spend your
money

Income and
spending

It is important that we keep investing in
our buildings, vehicles, and equipment
to ensure they remain fit for purpose,
accessible for our communities, energy
efficient and that they allow us to deliver
an effective service.

8 What we cost and how we spend your money

When concluding the 2019/20 final
accounts audit, the external auditors
(Ernst & Young LLP) concluded that
we have the correct arrangements in
place to secure value for money in
our use of resources.

Capital
expenditure

Community Risk Management Plan

8 What we cost and how we spend your money

We have adopted the CIPFA
(Chartered Institute of Public
Finance and Accountancy) Financial
Management Code which requires
us to demonstrate that we have
processes in place to ensure
good and sustainable financial
management and provide assurance
that we manage our resources
effectively.

Page 58

Community Risk Management Plan

Value for Money

Over the next three years, we will rebuild
and upgrade several of our buildings. To
ensure public money is invested wisely
we will continue to explore opportunities
to share our resources with other
agencies or partners where possible.
We will also replace a number of fire
engines and specialist vehicles. The
new vehicles will be fitted with the most
up to date technology and be more
efficient and economical to run. We will
explore the use of hybrid and electrical
vehicles wherever possible as part of our
commitment to reducing our impact on
the environment.
We will continue to invest in our ICT
infrastructure and update our processes
and systems to meet the changing needs
of the organisation, and to maximise the
benefits from new technology.

56

57

Meetings of the CFA and its committees
are open to the public and are also
streamed live on our YouTube channel.
Further information, including meeting
agendas and minutes, can be found on
the City Council’s website.
Our Strategic Leadership Team, under
the direction of the Chief Fire Officer
is responsible for implementing the
strategy and policy decisions taken
by the CFA. They are supported by
other internal groups that oversee
performance and ensure continuous
improvement.

9 Governance, Monitoring and Assurance

9 Governance, Monitoring and Assurance

Often referred to as the Combined Fire
Authority (CFA), it consists of 18 elected
Councillors from Nottingham City
Council and Nottinghamshire County
Council. There are six committees that
report to the Fire Authority. Collectively
these committees, and the CFA, make
decisions on key matters such as policy,
strategy and budgets.

The Chief Fire Officer then has a scheme
of delegation which details devolved
areas of service delivery, such as how
to allocate resources and prioritise the
workload of our Service.

● Appointments Committee
● Community Safety Committee

Combined
Fire Authority

● Finance & Resources Committee
● Human Resources Committee
● Policy & Strategy Committee
● Personnel Committee

Page 59

Strategic
Leadership Team

58

Community Risk Management Plan

Community Risk Management Plan

9 Governance,
Monitoring and
Assurance

T

he Nottinghamshire and City of
Nottingham Fire and Rescue
Authority is responsible for fulfilling the
statutory duties outlined in the Fire and
Rescue Services Act (2004) and other
primary legislation. This means that we
need to have the people, equipment
and training needed to carry out our
duties in relation to fire prevention, fire
safety, firefighting, rescues from road
traffic collisions and responding to
other emergencies such as flooding or
terrorism.

Performance
and Programme
Board
59

We also have a Collaboration Board
which facilitates governance and
reporting of our Joint Fire Control with
Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service
and explores areas for continued
collaboration. This is attended by Fire
Authority Members and Senior Officers
of both services.

60

All fire and rescue services
are subject to inspection from
HMICFRS. The aims of the
inspection programme are to
encourage improvement in the fire
sector and to provide the public with
accessible information about how
their local service is performing. Our
long-term ambition is to be graded
as an ‘Outstanding’ service.
We were inspected in September
2021 and we will receive the final
report of their findings in the spring.
During the life of this plan, we will act
upon identified areas of learning to
deliver further service improvements.

61

9 Governance, Monitoring and Assurance

9 Governance, Monitoring and Assurance

We facilitate a Strategic Collaboration
Board, that looks for opportunities to
work with Nottinghamshire Police and
oversees current collaborations. The
membership of the group includes the
Chair of the Fire Authority, the Chief Fire
Officer, the Chief Constable and the
Police and Crime Commissioner.

External
Assurance

Community Risk Management Plan

Page 60

Community Risk Management Plan

Collaboration

Community Risk Management Plan

Community Risk Management Plan

10 Our Ambition

W

e have a long-term ambition to be
one of the best Fire and Rescue
Services in England.

10 Our Ambition

10 Our Ambition

By 2032, we aim to be rated as
‘outstanding’ by Her Majesty’s
Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire
& Rescue Services (HMICFRS) and
deliver excellent performance across
the organisation. To achieve this we
will set expectations and measure
our performance around four pillars community outcomes; equality, diversity
and inclusion; financial sustainability
and strong governance, and to have a
professional and committed workforce.

Creating Safer Communities

Page 61

62

community
outcomes

equality,
diversity and
inclusion

financial stability
and strong
governance

professional
and committed
workforce
63

10 Our Ambition

10 Our Ambition

We are working to eliminate
discrimination, improve equality of
opportunities and maintain good
relations with the communities
that we serve. We engage with our
service users to ensure that we
provide services which meet their
needs, and that everyone has equal
access to them.

Responding to emergencies remains
the most visible and immediate
service we provide and the one the
public most commonly expects
from us. However, the number of
incidents we attend continues to fall,
due mainly to the community safety
activities we undertake. We work in
close partnership with other agencies,
particularly in the health and social
care sector, to identify vulnerable
individuals and communities, and
provide a person-centred approach to
supporting them to stay safe.

We have strong relationships with a
broad range of community groups,
who are regularly consulted about
the services we provide, and who
work with us to promote fire, road
and water safety advice in their
communities.

We work equally closely with the
authorities involved in regulating the
development, use and management
of non-domestic buildings, to
ensure all buildings meet fire safety
standards.

We are accredited as an Armed
Forces Covenant Gold Award
employer and a Disability Confident
Leader. We are signed up to the
British Sign language Charter.

Our advocacy for the installation of
fire suppression systems alongside
our robust enforcement of fire safety
legislation has reduced both the
number of fires in non-domestic
premises and the severity of them.
This has not only saved lives but it
has also reduced the economic and
social costs of incidents.

64

Community Risk Management Plan

Page 62

Community Risk Management Plan

Equality, diversity
and inclusion

Community
outcomes

Our staff have access to a wide
range of training and information to
ensure they understand the needs of
the communities they work with and
can adapt our service provision to
meet their specific needs of service
users wherever possible.
We are seen as an employer of
choice, we benefit from diversity at
all levels of our organisation, and
we undertake positive action to
encourage those who are underrepresented within our workforce
to apply for roles. Staff benefit from
equal opportunities throughout their
career with the Service.
64

65

Professional
and committed
workforce

We have a well-established and
effective business planning process.
We prioritise investments in line
with the benefits they will deliver for
communities and routinely evaluate
all initiatives to assess their impact.

We have the skills and knowledge to
fulfil our roles safely and effectively.
Considerable emphasis is placed
on practical training and exercising
for operational staff, to ensure their
skills and competences remain
current. When we are required to
attend emergency incidents, we are
equipped to work effectively with
other emergency services to saves
lives and limit the impact on property
and the environment.

Both internal and external audits
support the strong governance and
risk management processes in place.

10 Our Ambition

10 Our Ambition

We operate with a balanced
budget and take a robust approach
to financial planning and risk
management. We provide excellent
value for money, as demonstrated in
our value for money audits.

Community Risk Management Plan

Community Risk Management Plan

Strong
governance
and financial
sustainability

We offer a range of flexible career
paths for both operational and
non-operational staff, providing
opportunities for development,
progression and promotion.

Page 63

66

A sector-leading package of support
is available to maintain the physical
and mental health and wellbeing of
all staff. As a result, staff absence
and turnover rates are low and
compare favourably with the best in
the sector.

67

We will continue to:

● Develop our understanding of
communities and the people who live
in them, to help target those most at
risk
● Maintain effective safeguarding
processes, including ensuring all staff
receive regular training

●
We have a statutory duty to try and
prevent fires and other emergencies from
happening and we will improve the safety,
health and wellbeing of our communities ●
by reducing risks.

Work with individuals involved in arson
or identified as potential fire-setters, to
address those behaviours
Evaluate our performance to ensure
we can continually improve

We undertake a wide range of
activities to promote fire, road and
water safety within our communities.
Sadly, incidents still do occur and
when they do, we will spend time
with effected communities to provide
reassurance and advice to reduce
the risk of future incidents.
We will continue to:
● Promote fire, road and water
safety through media campaigns,
safety messages on our vehicles
and other channels including
social media
● Target areas of high-risk to offer
advice and guidance and to
identify vulnerable individuals who
may benefit from a Safe and Well
Visit
● Deliver road safety training to
groups of young people
● Attend community events that
support our aims and objectives

● Provide community reassurance
and engagement following an
incident
● Build stronger links with
communities, particularly with
under-represented groups, to
improve the effectiveness of our
community engagement activities
● Work with you, our communities,
to reduce the number of incidents
we attend

10 Our Ambition

10 Our Ambition

Strategic goal
1: We will help
people stay safe
from fires and
other emergencies

● Deliver Safe and Well Visits to those
at the highest risk to provide advice,
install smoke alarms and other safety
equipment

Community engagement

Community Risk Management Plan

During the lifespan of this plan, we have six strategic goals that we will aim to
deliver. These are supported by commitments of what we will do to achieve our
goals.

Page 64

Community Risk Management Plan

Our Strategic Goals for
2022 – 2025

We will:
● Roll the Fire and Police Cadet
scheme out further, to engage
young people with an interest in
the Service
● Further develop our performance
monitoring and evaluation of
activities to ensure they are
effective and provide equality of
access for everyone

We will:
We do this in many ways. We provide
direct support to vulnerable people,
● Increase the number of Safe and Well
engage with local communities and
visits we deliver to those who are
groups, and collaborate with our partners
most at risk of being injured or killed a
including voluntary groups.
fire. We will aim to deliver 15,000 per

Supporting vulnerable
individuals
Some individuals are particularly
vulnerable to the risks of fire and other
emergencies. We receive referrals
from a wide range of partners and
from members of the public, and we
proactively use our local knowledge to
identify people at risk.
68

year by 2025

● Further develop and embed the role of
the Occupational Therapist, to provide
effective, joined-up support for people
with more complex needs
● Explore and establish new ways of
delivering Prevention activities, to
improve efficiency and effectiveness

69

We work with many other agencies
to share information and provide a
joined-up, person-centred approach
to meeting the needs of our
communities.
We will continue to:

We will:
● Further integrate our Prevention,
Protection, and Response
activities – to increase the
awareness of prevention
issues and improve the flow of
information
● Improve the way we share
information between agencies to
help identify high-risk individuals
and communities

We will provide advice, guidance and
education to building owners and
managers to ensure the buildings
they are responsible for are safe
for people to use We will work
with business owners and take
enforcement action where necessary
to deal with any non-compliance.

We work with premises owners to
provide education and guidance
to help them understand their
responsibilities around fire safety.
We also work proactively to
reduce the number of rescues
from lifts and false alarms.
We will continue to:
● Promote fire safety through
media campaigns, engagement
with the local business network
and direct contact through
referrals
● Proactively engage with those
responsible for premises which
cause us to respond to false
alarms on multiple occasions.
We will continue to provide
advice on how to reduce or stop
these and we aim to reduce
these calls for service by 10%
by 2025

Page 65

70

71

10 Our Ambition

10 Our Ambition

● Educate and train our partners
to recognise the risks of fire and
make appropriate referrals to us in
line with our CHARLIE profile (see
page 41 for more information)

Strategic goal 2:
We will improve
fire safety in the
buildings people
live and work in

Business education

Community Risk Management Plan

Community Risk Management Plan

Integration and
collaboration

Collaboration and
integration

We have a statutory duty to enforce
the fire safety regulations. This duty
is expanding with new legislation
passed in the wake of the Grenfell
Tower tragedy.

We work with partners in other
agencies to share information and
target activities.
We will:

● Audit premises for compliance with
the legislation, through our Riskbased Inspection Programme. This
determines the level and frequency
of audit that each building should
have depending on the level of risk
it presents

● Adapt to the requirements of new
legislation, providing training and
establishing effective processes

● Provide professional advice and
guidance on planning applications

● Embed and maintain the
business safety check
programme which ensures
basic audits are undertaken on
premises considered to be of
lower risk

● Take enforcement action to limit or
prohibit the use of buildings which
do not comply with fire safety
regulations
● Prosecute building owners who fail
to comply with notices to improve

72

● Implement the new high-rise
residential building audits for
all residential buildings over 11
metres

● Increase the number of fire
safety audits and business
safety checks that we carry out
in our communities. We will
aim to deliver 2,000 fire safety
inspections and 2,700 business
safety checks per year by 2025

We will continue:
● Working through the National
Fire Chiefs Council, to lobby the
Government for better regulation
to protect communities through
improved building safety

10 Our Ambition

10 Our Ambition

We will continue to:

● Ensure there is adequate
water to fight fires on any new
commercial and domestic property
development

Community Risk Management Plan

Page 66

Community Risk Management Plan

Fire Safety Inspections

● Working with planning and building
control teams to encourage
developers to include appropriate
fire safety measures such as
suppression systems in their plans
● To collaborate with the city council
on a Joint Audit and Inspection
Team, providing an effective,
joined-up approach to inspecting
high-risk residential premises
identified following the Grenfell
Tower fire
We will:
● Further integrate the Prevention,
Protection, and Response
activities, to increase the
awareness of fire protection issues
and to improve the sharing of
information

73

To do this we need to maintain
a professional and competent
workforce and provide them with the
equipment and skills they need to
deal with new and emerging risks.
We also need to make sure that we
deploy our fire engines and specialist
vehicles in the most effective way.

Page 67

74

We will continue to:
● Provide routine training and
revalidation processes to maintain
the skills and knowledge of all
operational staff
● Work proactively with regional
partners to embed and develop
standard ways of working in
accordance with the National
Operational Guidance programme

● Undertake a fundamental review
of operational training functions to
ensure training provision is fit for
the future
● Review the way our initial training
for new recruits is structured
and delivered, to provide more
flexibility and shorten the time it
takes to get new recruits on board
● Develop new training pathways
that reflect the importance of
Prevention and Protection work
within the role of operational
Firefighters

10 Our Ambition

10 Our Ambition

When we receive a 999 call for
help, we will immediately send the
nearest, most appropriate resources.
We will arrive as quickly as possible
with the right equipment and skills to
save lives and prevent harm.

Effective operational training has
always been essential for ensuring
our Firefighters are able to tackle
incidents safely. As the number of
incidents reduce, this is only going
to become more important. We need
to ensure that Firefighters are well
prepared to deal with the incidents
they face.

We will adapt to the changing needs
of the Service. We will:

Community Risk Management Plan

Community Risk Management Plan

Strategic goal 3:
We will respond
immediately
and effectively
to emergency
incidents

Operational training and
exercising

● Ensure our learning management
systems provide an effective
way to support our competent
workforce

● Expand our use of training
exercises, including multi-agency
and cross-border exercises, with
other emergency services and
partner agencies
● Adapt, update and enhance our
existing training in light of the
findings of the Grenfell Tower
inquiry and other public inquiries,
learning shared by other services
and professional fire standards
● Deliver new and updated training
to all operational staff whenever
new equipment and new ways of
working are introduced

75

Every fire service has a statutory
duty to periodically review these
arrangements in the light of its
assessment of the risks in its area.
During 2021/22, we have undertaken
a Strategic Assessment of Risk
and an independent analysis of our
existing fire cover arrangements
which highlights the optimisation
of resources to meet our current
attendance standards.

● Monitor and review our
performance and processes to
ensure the greatest availability
of our fire engines and specialist
capabilities
● Ensure we meet our current
response standard of 8 minutes to
attend an incident

Our operational response is
dependent on our support services
to provide key systems and
infrastructure. During the life of this
plan we will be making significant
investments.

During the life of this plan we will:

We will:

● Implement the outcomes of the
Specialist Appliance Review
undertaken during 2021/22

● Implement a new operational
rostering solution, to improve
how we manage the availability
of crews, appliances and related
administration processes

● Review the findings of the
Strategic Assessment of Risk and
the Fire Cover Review, along with
other sources of information, to
identify ways that we can optimise
our service delivery model
● Assess the outcomes of the
pilot schemes being run to test
different contracts for on-call
Firefighters, with a view to rolling
out those which prove successful
in helping to recruit and retain
personnel

10 Our Ambition

10 Our Ambition

We can be called to a wide range of
incidents, anywhere in the County
at any time of the day or night. We
may also be called upon to provide
support for major incidents anywhere
in the Country, as part of our national
resilience duty. To ensure we can
provide the best possible response,
we need to make sure we have the
most appropriate fleet of fire engines
and specialist vehicles, located in
the most suitable places, and that
we have crews available to operate
them.

We will continue to:

Community Risk Management Plan

Page 68

Community Risk Management Plan

Optimising our response

Supporting services,
systems and
infrastructure

● Improve information sharing and
understanding about risks in
relation to Prevention, Protection,
Response and operational risk
● Re-tender the contract for the
system we use to mobilise our fire
engines, in collaboration with our
tri-service partners

● Review our approach to specialist
roles undertaken by officers, such
as Fire Investigators and specialist
Tactical Advisors
● Review our response standards
which are based upon risks we
have identified in the County, and
implement any approved changes

76

77

Community Risk Management Plan

Community Risk Management Plan

Our workforce will have the
professionalism, skills, capacity and
flexibility to deliver the goals of the
CRMP and will be more reflective of
the communities we serve.

10 Our Ambition

10 Our Ambition

Strategic goal 4:
We will continue
to support,
develop and
diversify our
professional
workforce

Equality, diversity and
inclusion
Promoting equality, diversity
and inclusion is central to the
way we work. We aim to be an
employer of choice across all
sections of the community. We are
committed to providing an inclusive
workplace with equality of access
to development and progression
opportunities.

Page 69

We will continue to:
● Engage in positive action to
promote the Fire Service as a
career choice and improve the
diversity of our workforce
● Use positive action to encourage
staff from under-represented
groups to consider opportunities
for progression or promotion

78

● Maintain our commitment to
driving equality through our work
with external agencies, such as
the Disability Confidence scheme,
British Sign Language Charter,
Stonewall and the Armed Forces
Covenant
● Support and engage with staff
from under-represented groups
through a network of employee
forums including our BAME
Forum, LGBT+ employee network,
the Inclusion Forum and through
reverse mentoring
● Provide high-quality EDI training
for all staff
We will:
● Review our policies and
procedures to ensure they
promote EDI in all that we do

79

We are committed to developing our
workforce, to ensure our people have
the skills and knowledge to fulfil their
roles, and to provide opportunities for
career development, progression and
promotion.

To deliver the best outcomes for our
communities we need to ensure we
have enough people with the right
skills, in the right place at the right
times.

We will:

● Ensure the correct capacity to
undertake our high-risk Prevention
activities in line with our changing
demographic of communities

● Undertake a strategic workforce
review across all departments to
ensure our resources and skills are
best aligned to meet the needs of
our communities and support our
purpose
● Undertake a review of how we
recruit, reward and engage our
workforce to ensure that we
provide a skilled and professional
service
● Implement a future leaders
programme to ensure we plan for
the future
● Embed the Values of the Service
and incorporate the NFCC Core
Code of Ethics within our culture
to deliver the high standards of
conduct and behaviour expected
of a trusted public service

80

We will:

● Enhance our capacity to undertake
Fire Protection work
● Review the current workforce
model to identify areas where we
need to adjust capacity, to deliver
effective services
● Develop and implement a range
of career pathways for both
operational and non-operational
staff that will improve recruitment
and retention rates, and ensure
the workforce can meet future
challenges

81

10 Our Ambition

10 Our Ambition

Capacity and flexibility

Community Risk Management Plan

Page 70

Community Risk Management Plan

Skills and professionalism

We take the health and wellbeing
of our workforce very seriously. We
provide a sector-leading range of
services which are available to all
staff, to support their physical and
mental health and wellbeing.
We will continue to:

● Take a preventative and supportive
approach to mental health issues,
providing access to advice,
guidance and support when its
needed
We will:
● Review and implement and our
Wellbeing Strategy to provide
occupational and welfare support
to all our employees. This will help
to promote healthy lifestyles and
reduce illness
● Review the Service’s uniform and
standards of dress to ensure it is
inclusive, professional and meets
the current needs and demands of
the workforce

Our journey to outstanding will
involve the whole organisation
working together to improve the
quality, efficiency and effectiveness
of the work we do.
A significant part of becoming an
outstanding service is embracing
a continuous improvement ethos.
Throughout the life of this plan, we
will critically evaluate the way that
we work, the outcomes we deliver,
and we will make changes where
these will improve our performance.

Community focus
We are focused on providing the
best possible services to meet the
needs of our communities.
We will:
● Use our Strategic Assessment
of Risk and Fire Cover Review
to prioritise the services we
provide and align our resources
to best effect. We will update our
assessment of risk each year

10 Our Ambition

10 Our Ambition

● Provide programmes to maintain
and improve fitness to ensure that
those undertaking operational roles
remain fit throughout their career,
and that we reduce instances of
musculoskeletal injury

Strategic goal 5:
We will continue
our improvement
journey to deliver
an outstanding
Service

Community Risk Management Plan

Community Risk Management Plan

Support

● Provide all our public-facing
teams with the relevant
information about the risks and
needs of communities they work
with, to enable them to engage
effectively and make every
contact count
● Be proactive in consulting
and involving community
groups, particularly from underrepresented or ‘seldom heard’
groups, when developing our
services
● Review our Corporate Social
Responsibility Statement
to ensure it underpins our
engagement with communities

Page 71

82

83

● Engage with our service users to
ensure that we meet their needs, that
our services are accessible and that
our relationships with communities are
strong

● Improve our community
engagement by establishing
consultation panels and ensuring
that we promote volunteering
opportunities

● Provide training to staff to improve
their understanding of different faiths
and beliefs
● Undertake equality impact
assessments so that we understand
how our activities and policies
may impact our service users and
workforce, and address any specific
issues

84

We will continue to:
● Develop our use of evaluation
techniques to routinely assess the
impact of our activities, to improve
community outcomes
● Develop our management
information and data analysis
capability to support performance
monitoring and decision making
● Improve our business planning
processes, to ensure we are able
to prioritise our activities and
maximise their benefits
● Review and implement
recommendations from public
inquiries and sector learning

● Develop our capabilities in project
and programme management and
change management
● Modify selected business
processes to improve efficiency
and effectiveness
● Adopt new national fire standards
as they are published by the
Fire Standards Board, to ensure
we are working to sector best
practice

10 Our Ambition

10 Our Ambition

We will continue to:

We will:

We will continue to build and develop
a performance management culture.

We will:

Community Risk Management Plan

Quality, efficiency and
effectiveness

We are committed to providing equality of
access to all our services.
Page 72

Community Risk Management Plan

Equality, diversity and
inclusion

● Introduce managed service
level agreements for all support
functions
● Build a research and development
capability to ensure that we stay
up to date with all developments
in the sector and that our
equipment and training remains
current with new and emerging
risks

85

Collaboration

We will continue to:

We will continue to:

● Maintain a resilient ICT
infrastructure, with a rolling
programme of hardware upgrades
and replacements

● Look for opportunities to further
develop existing collaborations or
explore new arrangements where
there is a clear business case for
doing so

● Maintain the security of our
systems and data, retaining our
Cyber Essentials accreditation

10 Our Ambition

10 Our Ambition

We want our staff to have access
to the right information, on the right
device, at the right times, and have
the skills to use the technology
effectively. We aim to improve our use
of digital technology, to enhance how
we work and deliver better access to
our services.

We engage with a range of partners,
including other blue light services,
local councils, health and social
care agencies and voluntary sector
organisations. These collaborations
take many forms, from the sharing
of resources and information to
efficiency improvements which
provide more effective community
outcomes.

Community Risk Management Plan

Community Risk Management Plan

Digital technology and
innovation

● Progress the implementation of the
Emergency Services Network
● Improve the ICT skills of our
workforce, ensuring that all staff
are able to use systems effectively
● Improve the availability of our
systems to allow for increased
mobile working
● Ensure our systems are accessible
for all
We will:
Page 73

● Make processes digital where
possible, to reduce paperwork and
improve efficiency
● Make services more accessible
through our website and digital
technologies

86
86

87

To improve the services that we
deliver we invest wisely in the future
and we find environmentally friendly
solutions wherever possible.

88

We will:
● Review the Medium Term
Financial Strategy to deliver a
long-term sustainable Service
● Review our governance processes
to ensure we continue to invest
in those activities and projects
which will deliver the best value
for money and the best outcomes
for our communities

We maintain a 10 year capital
investment programme through
which we pay for the replacement
of fire engines, equipment and the
renewal of our buildings.
We will:
● Invest in replacing or refurbishing
older, inefficient buildings in line
with the Capital plan
● Review our Capital Programme to
ensure it aligns with the findings
of the Strategic Assessment of
Risk that was completed in 2021
● Replace fire engines which
have reached the end of their
serviceable life
● Align our investment in
specialist vehicles with the
recommendations of the Special
Appliances Review which was
undertaken in 2021
● Ensure the Service prioritises
expenditure to deliver this CRMP

89

10 Our Ambition

10 Our Ambition

We ensure that our Service is always
financially sustainable through
strong governance and we focus on
delivering value for money.

It is important that we maintain
financial stability and live within our
means.

Capital investment

Community Risk Management Plan

Page 74

Community Risk Management Plan

Strategic goal 6:
We will manage
and invest in our
Service to ensure
we are fit for the
future

Financial sustainability

We are committed to reducing our
impact on the environment wherever
we can.
We will:

● Ensure all new buildings and
property refurbishments are
sustainable and energy efficient
● Review our processes to
understand where we can minimise
our impact on the environment

● Invest in our electric vehicles
and infrastructure
● Include environmental and
sustainability considerations in
the procurement of all goods,
works and services

11 Improving together

10 Our Ambition

● Include environmental and
sustainability considerations in our
decision making and governance
processes

Community Risk Management Plan

Community Risk Management Plan

11 Improving
together

Environmental
sustainability

● Engage with partners and other
agencies for a collaborative
approach to reducing our
impacts where possible

W

e will continually evaluate
the effectiveness, efficiency
and delivery of our Community Risk
Management Plan and each year
we will review the progress we have
made against our goals. We will also
review our Strategic Assessment of
Risk.

Page 75

90

We will consult with you on any
material changes we propose to
implement either as a result of work
we have undertaken or changes in
the risk assessment.
We are always happy to hear from
you. If you have any comments
about this plan, or the work we do,
you can contact us through any of
the ways listed below.

91

Contact details
Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service,
Bestwood Lodge Drive,
Arnold,
Nottingham,
NG5 8PD
Telephone: 0115 838 8100
Text: 0776 629 9999
Email: enquiries@notts-fire.gov.uk
Please contact us if you require this document in an alternative format.

Page 76

Agenda Item 8

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham
Fire and Rescue Authority

CHIEF FIRE OFFICER VACANCY
Report of the Chief Fire Officer

Date:

24 September 2021

Purpose of Report:
To seek approval for the recruitment to the impending vacancy of Chief Fire Officer
for when the current incumbent retires from the Service on 15 April 2022.

Recommendations:
It is recommended that Members:


Task the current Chief Fire Officer and Clerk to the Authority to put in place a
recruitment process for the Chief Fire Officer vacancy, in consultation with the
Chair of the Authority; and,



Ask the Current Chief Fire Officer, Clerk to the Authority and Head of People and
Organisational Development to support Members of the Authority throughout the
selection process.

CONTACT OFFICER

Name:

John Buckley
Chief Fire Officer

Tel:

0115 967 0880

Email:

john.buckley@notts-fire.gov.uk

Media Enquiries
Contact:

Simon Cotton
0115 967 0880 simon.cotton@notts-fire.gov.uk

Page 77

1.

BACKGROUND

1.1

The Chief Fire Officer has indicated that they will be retiring from the Service
on 15 April 2022, and in line with contractual requirements they have provided
at least six-month’s notice.

1.2

The appointment of the Chief Fire Officer is the responsibility of the Fire
Authority, and this report seeks approval to commence that process.

2.
2.1

REPORT
The role of the Chief Fire Officer (CFO) has three distinct areas of
responsibility. Namely:




To be the Principal Advisor to the Fire Authority;
To be the Head of Paid Service and be accountable to the Fire Authority
for the efficient, effective, equitable and economic discharge of its legal
duties, responsibilities, and expectations; and,
To provide strategic operational cover as part of the Brigade Manager oncall rota.

2.2

The selection process for the CFO post is robust and will involve the
convening of the Appointments Committee to assess the candidates and
provide recommendations to a future meeting of the full Fire Authority where
the decision regarding appointment must be made.

2.3

To support the process, and to ensure the strongest candidates are
encouraged to apply for the role, it is proposed external recruitment specialists
are contracted to assist in the appointments process and a budget of £30k will
be earmarked for this support.

2.4

The current Chief Fire Officer, Clerk to the Authority and Head of People and
Development will also provide extensive support to Members throughout the
process.

2.5

If approved, the vacancy will be advertised throughout October, and selection
processes conducted thereafter with an expectation a decision on
appointment could be made at the December meeting of the Fire Authority

3.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

3.1

The use of external consultants to support the process is likely to cost in the
region of £25-30k. This will be funded from the consultancy budget.

3.2

The salary range for the post is £145,732 to £161,925. Appointment to the
post would normally be at the lowest point and increase over two years so
there is potential for short term revenue savings to be realised.
Page 78

3.3

4.

As the post holder is required to reside within the county, a relocation package
is offered if the successful candidate is required to move.
HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT
IMPLICATIONS

There are significant human resources implications arising from this report, but all
can be managed by the internal human resources team with the assistance of
specialist external support for which a budget of £30k has been identified.
5.

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

An equality impact assessment has not been undertaken as this report does not
suggest any changes to policy or service delivery functions.
6.

CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report.
7.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

The main aspects of this process will need to comply with appropriate employment
and equalities legislation.
8.

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

A timely appointment to the post will be critical in ensuring stability for the Service
going forward, and the six-month’s notice period provides sufficient time for a robust
process to be undertaken, and to enable a formal handover of knowledge and
responsibilities to take place.
9.

COLLABORATION IMPLICATIONS

There are no collaboration implications arising from this report.
10.

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that Members:
10.1

Task the current Chief Fire Officer and Clerk to the Authority to put in place a
recruitment process for the Chief Fire Officer vacancy, in consultation with the
Chair of the Authority; and,

Page 79

10.2

Ask the Current Chief Fire Officer, Clerk to the Authority and Head of People
and Organisational Development to support Members of the Authority
throughout the selection process.

11.

BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED
DOCUMENTS)

None.

John Buckley
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER

Page 80

Agenda Item 9

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham
Fire and Rescue Authority

NATIONAL CORE CODE OF
ETHICS
Report of the Chief Fire Officer

Date:

24 September 2021

Purpose of Report:
To update Members on progress to implement the national Core Code of Ethics.
Recommendations:
It is recommended that Members:



Endorse the implementation of the national Core Code of Ethics; and
Note the review of the Employee Code of Conduct to align with the NFCC Core
Code of Ethics

CONTACT OFFICER
Name :

Craig Parkin
Deputy Chief Fire Officer

Tel :

0115 967 0880

Email :

craig.parkin@notts-fire.gov.uk

Media Enquiries
Contact :

Corporate Communications Team
(0115) 967 0880 corporatecomms@notts-fire.gov.uk

Page 81

1.

BACKGROUND

1.1

A Core Code of Ethics, developed by the National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC)
and Local Government Association (LGA), and more recently in partnership
with the Association of Police and Crime Commissioners, was published on
18 May 2021.

1.2

This work arises from the recommendations of the State of Fire Review
2019/20, which reported that:
“FRSs would benefit from a national code of ethics which specifies and
establishes the exemplary standards of behaviour for all staff. This code
should be at the heart of everything services do and make it clear to staff what
behaviour is acceptable in their everyday work. This will allow poor behaviour
to be challenged regardless of people’s positions and roles. It will also give
new recruits clear expectations of, and confidence in, what behaviour is
acceptable.
To make sure they become part of everyday working life, services should
include these values as part of staff performance appraisals and consider
them if people seek promotion.”

1.3

Work was undertaken initially through the NFCC and LGA, and more recently
in partnership with the Association of Police and Crime Commissioners, to
draft a code underpinned by a National Fire Standard. Guidance has also
been published to support the implementation process.

1.4

Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (NFRS) was part of the national
group that developed the Code, and the Service responded to the
consultation exercise that preceded publication.

2.
2.1

REPORT
The Core Code of Ethics is based on five key principles. They are:






Putting our communities first;
Integrity;
Dignity and respect;
Leadership;
Equality, diversity and inclusion.

2.2

Whilst the Code is founded on the Nolan Principles in public service, this is
not specifically mentioned in the code, but they do underpin it. This is to
make it more accessible to all employees, not just to those in senior positions.
The Fire Standard which underpins the code sets out the expectations on
FRSs to implement the Code.

2.3

Fire Services must do the following to meet the Fire Standard for the Core
Code of Ethics –
Page 82

1. Adopt and embed the Core Code to demonstrate that the service is fully
committed and compliant at both an individual and corporate level.
2. Ensure the attitudes, professional behaviours and conduct described
within the core code are reflected in its decision-making, policies,
procedures, processes, and associated guidance that govern how the
service manages and supports its workforce.
3. Provide training and support to all those who work for, or on behalf of, a
service to achieve their understanding of the Core Code and an
appreciation of their responsibilities in adhering to it.
4. Not detract from the Core Code.
Those who lead services and those who work for, or on behalf of, the
service must:
5. Understand, respect, and follow the principles of the Core Code and
demonstrate this by their commitment to it and their responsibility for
upholding it.
6. Conduct themselves in accordance with the Core Code.
A fire and rescue service should:
10. Designate a senior leader who is responsible for promoting the Core Code
throughout the service and ensuring that all those who work for, or on
behalf of, the service understand its contents and what is expected of
them.
2.4

Whilst the Code is centred on service values and culture and has a behaviour
focus, the Standard makes it explicit that it also applies to corporate
governance and links to other codes, such as the CIPFA Code of
Governance, and references legislation and regulations such as the Equality
Act, Public Sector Equality Duty, Local Audit and Accountability Act and the
Accounts and Audits Regulations.

2.5

The impact of the Standard is therefore more far-reaching than employee and
senior leadership behaviours, and applies to governance arrangements,
finance and procurement policy and practice and ethical decision-making. It
has been made clear that implementation of the code will be a line of enquiry
at the next HMICFRS inspection.

2.6

Whilst the Code does not directly apply to Members of the Combined Fire
Authority, as they have their own code, it is advised that they are overtly
engaged and supportive of its implementation. The Standard states the
following for those governing Fire Services:
Those responsible for the governance of fire and rescue services, whilst
complying with their own ethical codes must:
7. hold the Chief Fire Officer to account for the implementation of the Core
Code at a local level;
8. play a proactive role in challenging behaviour inconsistent with the Core
Code; and

Page 83

9. ensure strategies, policies and performance measures are in place to
promote and embed a positive and inclusive culture.
IMPLEMENTATION PLAN
2.7

The Service has developed an implementation plan which will ensure that the
Code becomes embedded across the organisation. Themes within the plan
include a communications plan, Contracts (employment and suppliers/third
parties) review, policies/procedures, NFRS employee code of conduct,
training and development and governance. The Service aims to have the
Code implemented by the end of 2021.

2.8

Ongoing scrutiny will be afforded by regular updates being provided to the
Authority through the Human Resources update report, the Annual
Governance Statement and reports of the Clerk and Monitoring Officer to the
Authority where appropriate.

EMPLOYEE CODE OF CONDUCT
2.9

3.

One of the elements of the implementation plan is the review of the NFRS
Employee Code of Conduct (Appendix A). This has been updated to ensure
that the Core Code of Ethics are explicitly covered and are followed by all new
and existing employees.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no direct financial implications. However, financial governance is an
integral part of establishing that the Service has good internal governance
arrangements which are open to external scrutiny.
4.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT
IMPLICATIONS

4.1

There are a number of Human Resources and Learning and Development
implications, including embedding The Code into contracts and relevant
policies, and into induction processes.

4.2

The Service’s values-based Behavioural Framework has been reviewed to
ensure that the Code of Ethics is integrated. Training and e-learning has also
been developed to reflect this change.

5.

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

5.1

The Core Code of Ethics was equality impact assessed by the group at a
national level and Equality, Diversity and Inclusion is a key principle within the
Code.

5.2

An Initial Equality Impact has been undertaken on the revised NFRS Code of
Conduct and shows no adverse impact.

Page 84

6.

CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report.
7.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no legal implications arising from this report.
8.

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

The NFCC Code of Ethics will form part of the HMICFRS review going forward and
the Service will need to demonstrate compliance. Progress against the
implementation plan will provide assurance that the Service has adopted its key
principles and adapted its practice to embed ethical behaviours and practice across
the organisation.
9.

COLLABORATION IMPLICATIONS

A Service representative was part of the original group working alongside colleagues
representing NFCC, LGA and the Home Office.
10.

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that Members:
10.1

Endorse the implementation of the national Core Code of Ethics; and

10.2 Note the review of the Employee Code of Conduct to align with the NFCC
Core Code of Ethics.
11.

BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED
DOCUMENTS)

None.

John Buckley
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER

Page 85

APPENDIX A
Review Date: September 2024

Employee Code of Conduct
POL 2213
Scope
This policy is mandatory and applies to NFRS staff.

Summary
The purpose of the Code of Conduct is to clarify the expectations of the Fire
Authority and to ensure that all employees understand the standards of conduct
required of them.
This code reflects the Code of Ethics Fire Standard and NFCC Core Code of Ethics,
which establish sector expectations about governance, behaviour and integrity.
Security
classification

Official

Author

Head of People and Organisational Development

Department

POD

Approved by

Head of People and Organisational Development

Assessments done

Initial EIA – July 2021

Version
1.1

Modified by
Head of People and
Organisational
Development

Date
November
2020

Page 86

Changes
Revisions of Code of Conduct to
incorporate the NFCC Core Code of
Ethics and bring policy references

up to date

Page 1 of
WARNING: If you are reading a printed copy of this document please refer to
the Intranet to ensure you are reading the most current version.
[document title]

Contents
1.

Key information

1 Introduction
2 The Five Fire and Rescue Ethical Principles
3
4

2.

3.

Primary information

Support information

4.
Appendices

1 Section 1: Responsibilities and expectations
of NFRS employees
2 Section 2: Contractual Obligations – Key
Policies and Procedures
3 Section 3: Equalities and Inclusion
4 Section 4: Financial Standards
5 Section 5: Information Technology and Use
of Data
6 Section 6: Relations with Members of the
Authority
1
2
3
4
1 How we will deliver the Five Fire and Rescue
Service Ethical Principles
2 Member/Officer Protocol

Information Delivery System (IDS)

The IDS uses colour to identify sections within documents, namely:

Page 87

Section
Key
Primary
Support
Appendices

Colour

Purpose
Is critical ‘need to know’ information and can consequently
be found at the front of the document.
Is information that supports and elaborates on key
information, but is not immediately critical in nature.
Is background information that further underpins the
previous sections.
Is relevant information such as process maps, tick lists,
flowcharts and templates etc.

Page 2 of
WARNING: If you are reading a printed copy of this document please refer to
the Intranet to ensure you are reading the most current version.
[document title]

Key information
Introduction
1.1

The Nottinghamshire Fire & Rescue Service values its reputation as a trusted
and respected public body. Maintaining this reputation depends upon the
professionalism and integrity of every employee who works for the Service.

1.2

The public is entitled to expect the highest standards of conduct from all
Officers of Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire & Rescue Authority
and Officers must always act in accordance with that trust.

1.3

The purpose of the Code of Conduct is to clarify the expectations of the Fire
Authority and to ensure that all employees understand the standards of
conduct required of them.

1.4

This code reflects the Code of Ethics Fire Standard and NFCC Core Code of
Ethics, which establish sector expectations about governance, behaviour and
integrity. Ethics are a cornerstone of professionalism. Ethical behaviour is
crucial to maintain public trust and confidence, and to continue to build a
reputation which people value and are aware of. This Core Code will also
support the fire and rescue service in improving the culture and the diversity
within it, and will also ensure that an ethical approach is embedded into all
areas of service. The intention being to:

Page 88

o
o
o
o

Ensure consistency in ethical behaviour
Enhance professionalism within the service
Generate a positive working culture
Improve the trust and reputation of the service.

1.5

The Service trusts its employees to act appropriately and do the right thing.
However, from time to time, situations may arise whereby further guidance is
needed.

1.6

The Code covers, through its different sections:
 our expectations of employee conduct
 the importance of treating others fairly and with respect and the
elimination of any form of discrimination
 references the key policies and procedures that govern the way in which
we do things
 relationships between Officers and elected Members
 the rules governing fraud, contracts and financial probity, and
 the ways in which issues can be raised and addressed

1.7

A whole suite of detailed policies and procedures underpin this Code of
Conduct, and these can be found in the MyNet Document Library. These are
referenced within the document.

1.8

Clarification about the application of the Code or relevant policies, procedures
and regulations should be addressed to line managers, the Human Resources
Department, or the owners of the relevant documents. Trade union members
may seek to raise issues through their Trade Union representatives.

Corporate Governance
1.9

FRSs operate in a rapidly changing environment where new ethical
challenges arise on a regular basis. Therefore, we often have to make
decisions in difficult, changing, and unclear situations. The principles within
this Code should form the basis of ethical decision making, supplemented by
the needs of the FRS, employees, the community, and service users.

1.10

Our behaviour is central to how we deliver services to our community. We will
ensure the resources are in place to enable the delivery of services in line
with its ethical values and vision. We will also strive to be an employer of
choice through the creation of a positive, responsible, innovative, open, and
challenging working environment in which ability and delivery is valued,
encouraged, developed, recognised, and rewarded.

1.11

As an organisation, Nottinghamshire Fire & Rescue Service ascribes to the
principles of the Government Committee on Standards in Public Life (the

Page 89

Nolan Committee), which set out the following guiding principles for those
involved in providing public services:







1.12

Integrity
Selflessness
Objectivity
Openness
Leadership
Accountability
Honesty

The Service approved a published Local Code of Corporate Governance in
February 2017 (link) which was based upon the CIPFA/SOLACE framework
for delivering good governance in Local Government, and which underpins
the way that Members and Officers operate to ensure high standards of
corporate governance. This is based on the following principles: openness,
inclusivity, integrity and accountability. The Code is in the process of being
updated.

Page 90

Primary information
SECTION ONE: Responsibilities and Expectations of all NFRS Employees
2.1

Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service is committed to uphold the highest
standards of conduct and expects all employees, whatever their role, to act at
all times in accordance with this expectation in order to maintain the trust and
respect of council tax-payers and service users.

2.2

All employees are expected to maintain professional standards of conduct,
both whilst at work and in their day-to-day dealings with the wider community,
particularly when representing the Service. Employees should seek to ensure
that their behaviour does not, or have the potential to, bring the Service into
disrepute or adversely affect the dignity of service employees or service
users, or damage the reputation of the Service or otherwise give rise to
criticism of the Service.

2.3

Employees of the Service have a responsibility to act fairly, honestly, in good
faith and in an impartial way in the delivery of services on behalf of the Fire
Authority, and to demonstrate behaviour commensurate with the stated values
of the Service.

2.4

This requirement also extends to conduct whilst in the workplace, and
employees are required to adhere to the policies, procedures and guidance
issued by the Service and which are incorporated into and supplement
individual Contracts of Employment.

2.5

Specifically, attention is drawn to the Authority’s Equalities Statement (link)
which expresses the joint commitment of the Authority and Trade Unions to
ensure that all people are treated fairly and are not subject to discrimination,
harassment or bullying by colleagues, contractors or service users.

The Five Fire and Rescue Service Ethical Principles
2.6

These are the five national principles that have been adopted by the Service
and underpin our expectations of all our employees:
Community at our Heart: We will put the interest of the public, the
community, and service users first.
Integrity: We will act with integrity including being open, truthful,
accurate and consistent in our actions, words, decisions, methods and
outcomes.

Page 91

Dignity and Respect: We will treat people with dignity and respect,
making decisions objectively based on evidence, without discrimination
or bias.
Leadership: We will be positive role models, always demonstrating
flexible and resilient leadership. We will be accountable for our
behaviour, decisions, and actions, and challenge all behaviour that falls
short of the highest standards.
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI): We will continually recognise
and promote the value of EDI. We will continually recognise and
promote the value of EDI, both within the Service and the wider
communities in which we serve. We will stand against all forms of
discrimination, create equal opportunities, promote equality, foster good
relations, and celebrate difference.
Further information on how we will seek to achieve these principles are set out
in more details at Appendix One.

Page 92

SECTION 2: CONTRACUTAL OBLIGATIONS – POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
3.1

Every employee is issued with a Contract of Employment at the start of their
employment (a Main Statement of Terms and Conditions of Employment)
which summarises the obligations of the Authority to them as employees, and
also the expectations of the Authority in terms of their adherence to the
policies and procedures set down to govern conduct in the workplace.

3.2

This Code of Conduct forms part your contract with Nottinghamshire Fire &
Rescue Service. Whilst this Code cannot set out every eventuality that may
arise, it does provide clear direction about the standards that are expected
from every employee. If you are in any doubt about an issue, particularly if an
action on your part may transgress this code, then you should seek advice
from your line manager, the HR Department or a trade union representative.

3.3

Whilst the contract document details key contractual issues (explicit terms),
there are also unwritten but implicit terms that govern the employment
relationship and expectations about conduct. These are expectations that can
reasonably be expected of any employee in any workplace. The fact that
these terms are not written down, does not mean that they are not equally
relevant or important.

3.4

There are many policies and procedures that underpin your conduct whilst at
work and, in some cases, your conduct outside of work where it reflects upon
the integrity and reputation of the Authority. These are documents that are
subject to consultation and negotiation with Trade Unions, either nationally or
locally. These also form part of your employment contract. All such policies
and procedures can be found in the MyNet Document Library.
Please note: the following are set in alphabetical order for ease of
reference and not in order of priority:

3.5

Core values
The following values have been adopted by the Service, following consultation
with our workforce, and set out expectations about how we behave in the
workplace. These are values are important to us because they influence the
way that we approach the way we do things and deal with others. These are:
 Professional in all that we do - We act professionally by being the
best that we can be, behaving with integrity and taking personal
responsibility for our behaviour and decisions.
 Open to Change - By understanding the need to improve, we open
ourselves up to new ideas and become a more sustainable
organisation, ready for the future

Page 93

 We value and respect others: By treating our community and service
users with respect and consideration, we become a more customerfocused and inclusive organisation.
 One Team working together - We act as One Team when we respect
and value each other and work together to create safer communities.

Further information about how the Service expects its employees to
incorporate these values into the everyday behaviour and conduct can be
found within our Behavioural Framework. (link).
Employees are always required, strive to demonstrate behaviour which
upholds our core values. Behaviour which contravenes our values will be
challenged and may lead to action under the Service’s Disciplinary Procedure.

3.6

Disclosure of Criminal Charges
Employees MUST notify the Service at the earliest opportunity if they are
under investigation, are arrested or are served with a caution or other penalty
by a court of police officer (for instance, a restraining order) for their conduct /
alleged conduct.
For the elimination of doubt, all such instances must be reported to the line
manager who will take advice from the HR Department.
A decision on whether it is appropriate for an employee to continue in the role
will be taken on a case by case basis, which may lead to a decision to
suspend an employee pending further investigation by the Service under its
disciplinary procedure.
It should be noted that the Service does not need to await the conclusion and
outcome of criminal proceedings before reaching its own decision regarding
potential misconduct.

3.7

Disclosure of Information under Vetting and Barring Procedures and
Security Checks
The Service has a Disclosure and Barring Policy. This can be found here
(link).
All new employees are subject to a Baseline Security Check on appointment
and some roles will require higher levels of vetting or security checks. This
will include disclosure of any unspent criminal convictions.
Roles requiring higher levels of vetting or security checks will be subject to rechecking at appropriate intervals.

Page 94

Employees must notify the Service of any allegations, investigations or
restrictions which may affect their role, particularly in relation to access to
vulnerable people and children, as they arise. For the elimination of doubt,
all such instances must be reported to the HR Department.
It should be noted that employees who will work from, or require unsupervised
access to, the Joint Headquarters with the Police will be subject to police
vetting.
3.8

Disclosure of Personal Interests
Officers who, by virtue of their role, provide appropriate advice to Members
and fellow Officers must do so with impartiality and in the best interests of the
Service, and must not allow a private interest to influence a public decision.
Officers who, by virtue of their role, are involved in the awarding of contracts
or spending decisions (including income generated through the provision of
services) must adhere to Financial Regulations and must not take any
decision in pursuit of a private interest or allow a private interest to influence
their decision making.
All personal associations or interest which may influence the impartiality of a
decision must be declared through the Statement of Employee Interests. This
may mean that the individual may be excluded from any meetings,
representations or decisions in relation to particular matters in order to protect
them and the Authority against any allegation of a conflict of interest.

3.9

Disclosure of Information
It is generally accepted that open government is best. The law requires that
certain types of information must be available to Members, auditors,
government departments, service users and the public.
Employees must check with their manager what sort of information they can
give openly and ensure they know what information cannot be disclosed
without specific authority. In general, information that is considered to be
confidential or exempt, or concerning an individual Officer or service user or
commercially sensitive information about contracts or tenders must not be
disclosed.
Employees must not use any information obtained in the course of their
employment for personal gain or benefit, nor must they pass it on to others
who might use it in such a way.
Employees who have regular contact with Members, employees/Officers must
read and understand the Member/Officer protocol, which contains guidance
on disclosure of information to Members.
Employees must not prevent another person from gaining access to
information to which that person is entitled by law.
Page 95

3.10

Disclosure of professional misconduct
Employees who are members of professional bodies must disclose to the
Service at the earliest opportunity any restrictions, investigations or actions
taken in relation to their professional practice. For the elimination of doubt, all
such instances must be reported to the line manager.

3.11

Disclosure of driving restrictions
Employees who are required to drive as part of their normal duties must notify
the Service of any restrictions on their ability to hold a current driving license.
For the elimination of doubt, all such instances must be reported to the line
manager.
It should be noted that the Service routinely checks driving licenses through a
third party agency.

3.12

Driving standards
Employee who drive service vehicles, or use their own vehicles on service
business, must adhere to driving regulations at all times to ensure their own
safety and that of other road users and passengers. It should be noted the
service vehicles are monitored via telemetric devices and any breaches of
driving standards or regulation will be investigated.
Personal vehicles used on service business must be road-worthy, taxed and
insured for business use.

3.13

Health and Safety
It is the responsibility of all employees under Health and Safety legislation to
take reasonable care for the health and safety of themselves or of persons
who may be affected by their actions or omissions at work.
Service Health and Safety policies can be found in the Policy Centre on
MyNet (link). The Written Statement of Intent can be found here (link).
The Service is committed to establishing safe systems of work, which include
specific risk assessments and use of Personal Protective Equipment, and all
employees are required to adhere to these at all times. A failure to comply
with safety instructions, either by act or omission, will result in an investigation
and may result in disciplinary action.

3.14

Nepotism (Appointments and other employment matters)
The Service has a policy on nepotism. This can be found here (link).

Page 96

Employees are discouraged from forming relationships, other than a working
relationship, where one of the parties is in a position to (directly or indirectly)
exert any power or influence over the other, or to use their position or status
to encourage a personal relationship for personal favour or career
enhancement.
Any personal relationships must be disclosed in advance of engagement in
any recruitment or promotion process where impartial judgement could be
brought into question. This applies to relationships or association with both
internal or external candidates.
3.15

Political Affiliations
The Service respects the rights of individual employees to hold political views,
however care should be taken to ensure that such views are not in any way
associated with an individual’s employment with the Service – for instance, by
making public statements in a way which references a link to the Service by
reference, inference or image. Particular care should be taken when using
personal media accounts that any comments or views are distinct from
account profiles that may associate the individual with a role with the service –
the Social Media Policy provides specific guidance on this (link).
Expressed views should not contravene the Service’s values or refer to
employees of the service or to Members of the Fire Authority and should not
have the potential to bring the reputation of the service into disrepute.
Employees should take care not to air their political views at work, particularly
where such view are unsolicited and may cause conflict or distress to others.
Employees who are considering election to public office must raise this with
the HR Department. It should be noted that certain roles are restricted
through legislation from holding public office.
Any complaints or media enquiries regarding the expression of political views
by NFRS employees will be investigated and appropriate action taken.

3.16

Public Speaking / Media Interviews
Employees who are asked to take part in public meetings, events, or media
interviews must seek authority to take part. If the invitation is extended as a
representative of the NFRS then care should be taken to express the policies
and position of the Fire Authority in a factual and unbiased way, and not to
express personal opinions. The Corporate Communications team can provide
guidance on dealing with the media.

3.17

Safeguarding

Page 97

The Service has a Safeguarding Policy. This can be found here (link).
The Service has a responsibility to safeguard children (those under 18) and
adults who may be considered (by virtue of age, immaturity, disability etc) to
be vulnerable and has a duty to report concerns through the appropriate
channels.
Employees must not enter into personal relationships of an intimate or sexual
nature with any person deemed to be vulnerable (see above) with whom they
come into contact through their role with the Service, or in any way use their
position or status as an employee of the Service to develop such
relationships. Any complaints or suspicions that such relationships exist or
where inappropriate conduct is suspected will be investigated.
3.18

Secondary employment
The Service has a Secondary Employment Policy. This can be found here
(link).
All operational employees must seek authority to undertake secondary
employment in line with the provisions of the policy. Particular attention is
drawn to any potential conflicts of interest which may arise, and the restriction
on using service property, equipment (including uniform or PPE) or the name
of the Service for business or private use.

3.19

Smoking in the workplace
The Service has a Smoke Free Working Policy. This can be found here (link).
The Service is committed, as part of its strategy to improve the health and
well-being of it workforce, to encourage its employees to stop smoking

3.20

Social Media
The use of social media, such as Facebook and Twitter, has made it much
easier to exchange views, share information and engage with a wide range of
people. The Service uses social media extensively to promote safety
messages, inform the public and encourage feedback. However, the way in
which we use such sites needs to be carefully managed – and any employee
posting messages linked to the service need to exercise due caution.
Employees may not under any circumstances post unauthorised comments,
images, or footage from or about incidents on social media sites. If personal
sites refer to the Service, including reference to employment with the Service
or images in uniform, then any postings must not contain any comments that
may damage the reputation of the service or infer that the Service shares
these views. This includes comments that may have the potential to be

Page 98

offensive, upsetting or breach the privacy of others, may be construed as
discriminatory against any group or individual or provide a personal view of
Service policy or actions.
The Service has a Social Media Policy (link) which sets out how to use such
sites and also the responsibilities of employees when posting on personal
sites which may be linked back to the Service and may have the potential to
bring the service into disrepute. Ensure that you use security and privacy
settings if you do not wish comments to be widely shared and be aware that
your comments may not be private and shared beyond your network of
contacts.
Social media postings which may be initially meant for a limited audience can
be re-posted and quickly fall into the public domain. In some cases, attracting
media interest. If the service receives complaints or become aware of such
postings then they will be investigated and this may result in disciplinary
action.
3.21

Standards of dress
The Service has a Standards of Dress Policy. This can be found here (link).
Adherence to required standards are important to ensure that employees
operate safely (for instance, the proper use of Personal Protective
Equipment), present a professional and acceptable standard of appearance to
service users and meet expectations about personal hygiene and decency in
the workplace.

3.22

Substance misuse
The Service has a Substance Misuse Policy. This can be found here (link).
The Service has zero tolerance for employees who present for work under the
influence of drink, drugs or any other substance which affects their ability to
perform safely and competently at work. The Service operates a substance
screening process and employees will be required to undergo testing in
accordance with policy provisions.
Support is available for employees who declare a drug or alcohol
dependency.

3.23

Use of information
Employees must only access, use or share information held on NFRS
systems (electronic or manual) as part of their normal official duties (e.g.
payroll, home visits, incidents, inspections, ICT support) following relevant
procedures (e.g. Safe and Well, CCTV procedure, police information request
form). For requests outside normal or familiar official duties (e.g. DWP

Page 99

enquiry), check with a group manager (or equivalent) or the Information
Governance Manager before responding.
Employees must comply with the Data protection policy (POL 3004) using
appropriate security when using data, for example, NFRS ICT equipment and
policies, door access controls. And only using the required amount of
necessary personal information needed for an official duty, for example,
necessary contact details to make a home visit, relevant information at a
return to work meeting, debriefs. Employees must avoid identifying details like
address or names when talking about work incidents for support from
colleagues not involved in the incident, or from family or friends.
Employees may not use information obtained in the course of their
employment with the Service for personal gain or benefit, nor should they
pass it on to others who might use it in such a way. This is particularly, but
not only, pertinent to Officers who may be party to confidential information
through attendance at Authority meetings, or links to elected Members.
Information requested by or released to external bodies, including the media,
should be agreed by an appropriately authorised person before
disclosure. No information relating to an employee of the Service may be
disclosed other than by the HR Department (or approved out of hours
process) with guidance when needed provided by the Information
Governance Manager.
Responses to Freedom of Information (requests for information outside usual
day-to-day requests) or Personal Data Information requests (Subject Access
requests) must be forwarded to the Information Governance Manager
(DataProtection@notts-fire.gov.uk) for response.
Breaches of data security policies and procedures will be dealt with under the
disciplinary procedure. See Data Protection and ICT policies on MyNet.

3.24

Whistleblowing Policy
The Authority has adopted a Whistleblowing Policy which enables the
reporting confidentially on any alleged improper behaviour or action taken by
an Officer or manager. Employees are expected, through agreed procedures
and without fear of recrimination, to bring to the attention of the appropriate
level of management any alleged impropriety, fraud or breach of procedure or
significant shortcomings in the provision of an agreed service.
The Policy can be found here (link).

Page 100

SECTION 3: EQUALITIES AND INCLUSION

Equalities Statement
4.1

The Service’s Commitment to Equality Statement can be found by following
this link. This statement has been endorsed by the Chief Fire Officer, the Fire
Authority and our representative bodies. This reflects our responsibilities
under the Equalities Act and the Public Sector Equalities Duty, and to our core
values.
All Service employees are required to uphold and conduct themselves in line
with the expectations of the commitment statement.
To meet the commitment to ensure equal access, this may sometimes mean
treating particular service users differently to meet their specific needs i.e.
disabled service users may need to be supported in a different way to those
who do not have a disability.
We may also use positive action measures to encourage certain underrepresented members of the community to engage with recruitment, or
prevention activities. In this respect, the service is discharging its
commitment to inclusion and equality and is not engaging in positive
discrimination (which is unlawful). We have agreed a Joint Commitment to
Improve Workforce Diversity with our representative bodies (link)

4.2

Discrimination
The Service is committed to creating a workplace which is free from direct and
indirect discrimination. This is reflected in the way we treat each other and
our service users. This forms part of our Core Values.
Discrimination may take the form of (but is not restricted to) behaviours,
actions and comments which may discriminate on the grounds of:
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Ethnicity (including race, colour and nationality)
Gender
Disability
Age
Sexual orientation
Gender identity
Marriage or civil partnership
Pregnancy or maternity
Religion or belief

The Service will ensure that all our employees understand that any form of
discrimination, whether through word or deed, is unacceptable and will
investigate and take action to address such behaviour. Every one of our

Page 101

employees has a role to play in creating a workplace where people are
accepted for who they are and what they contribute and treat each other, and
the people we serve, with respect.

4.3

Harassment and Bullying
As a basic principle, employees must treat others as they wish to be treated
themselves. Employees are expected to challenge or report behaviour which
has the effect of undermining, demeaning, victimising or making themselves
or others feel uncomfortable – this includes workplace ‘banter’.
The Service has agreed a Joint Statement on Harassment and Bullying (link)
with its representative bodies which sets out our expectations of behaviour in
the workplace.
The Service also has an Harassment and Bullying policy (link) which sets out
how employees can deal with or raise complaints about unacceptable
comments or behaviour. However, the best form of regulation is selfregulation and this means taking personal responsibility for our words and
actions and their impact.
Managers will take action where they see, hear of or receive complaints,
about unacceptable behaviour and these will be investigated without
exception.

Page 102

SECTION 4 – FINANCIAL STANDARDS
5.1

The Financial Regulations (link) and Financial Guidance Notes (link) set out
the policies and procedures which apply to all financial transactions
undertaken by the Authority, its designated budget holders and employees.
This can be found here. A failure to comply with financial regulations may
lead to action under the Disciplinary Procedure and may, in certain
circumstances, be investigated as criminal fraud or contraventions of the
standards applied to public sector employees.

5.2

Expenses and claims
The Service has a procedure for making legitimate claims for expenses
incurred during authorised duty.
Employees are required to only claim for actual expenditure incurred, within
the limits established, and supported by genuine receipts. Any claims which
are suspected of being in breach of these rules will be investigated as
possible fraud.

5.3

Procurement and contracts
The Service has policies in place for the management of procurement and
contractual arrangements for services or goods provided. These can be
found here (link).
Employees must follow the procurement processes, and all goods and
services must be processed through the Agresso finance system. A failure to
follow these procedures may result in investigation and disciplinary action.
Separation of Roles During Tendering
If involved in the tendering process and the appointment of contractors,
Officers must be clear on the separation of client and contractor roles within
the Authority. Officers who have both a client and contractor responsibility
must be aware of the need for accountability and openness.
If employed in contractor or client units individuals must exercise fairness and
impartiality when dealing with all customers, suppliers, other contractors and
subcontractors.
Confidential matters on tenders or costs for either internal or external
contractors must not be disclosed to any unauthorised party or organisation.
Officers must ensure that no special favour is shown to current or recent
former Officers or their partners, close relatives or associates in awarding
contracts to businesses run by them or employing them in a senior or
managerial capacity.

Page 103

5.4

Fraud, Corruption and Bribery
The Service has a number of policies which govern financial transactions,
these can be found here (link).
This Counter fraud, money laundering, corruption and bribery policy (link) sets
out the commitment of the Authority in dealing with allegations of fraud and
corruption. It represents the position held by the Authority in respect of the
confidential reporting of incidence of fraud and corruption that may amount to
breach of the law. The Head of Finance and Treasurer is responsible for its
implementation and monitoring.
The Authority expects all employees, elected Members, suppliers, contractors,
partners and service users to be fair and honest in their dealings with the
Authority and provide any help, information and support needed to deal with fraud
and corruption. The Authority has in place a framework of checks and controls
that are designed to reduce the likelihood of fraud occurring and will review the
elements of this framework on a regular basis, especially if any problems come to
light.

5.5

Corruption and Proceeds of Crime
It is a serious criminal offence to corruptly receive or give any gift, loan, fee,
reward or advantage for doing, or not doing, anything or showing favour, or
disfavour, to any person in an official capacity. If an allegation is made, it is for
the Officers to demonstrate that any such rewards have not been corruptly
obtained. Individuals must not show favouritism or give preferential treatment
of friends, partners or relations in the allocation of Authority services or
benefits.
Officers must report to the Head of Finance any dealings that they become
aware of where they suspect that the money involved may have been
acquired through illegal practices whether or not that money relates to a
client’s funds or those of any contractor or third party with whom the Council
may be involved.

5.6

Personal interests
The Service retains a list of registered interests of its employees, which is
regularly updated. The policy can be found here (link) and employees can
register any new interests via MyNet (link). The Finance section undertakes a
statutory annual review of the register at the beginning of each financial year
and returns must be submitted even if there is nothing to declare.
Employees must declare any interest that they may have where they may
influence the decision of the Authority, and particularly where they, or a
relative, friend or associate, may benefit financially from such a decision. In
this case, they will be expected to withdraw from any part of the decisionmaking process. For the avoidance of doubt, always declare a potential
interest so that a judgement can be made.

Page 104

5.7

Potential Conflicts of Interest
Officers must declare to their line manager any personal interests that could
bring about conflict with the Authority’s interests. These may be a personal
interest in a matter if that matter affects the wellbeing or financial position of
an individual, their relatives or their friends more than it would affect other
people in the Authority’s area. Such an interest may be either non-financial or
financial. Personal interests would include the following:-



membership or involvement with an organisation receiving grant aid
from the Authority
membership or involvement with an organisation or pressure group
which may seek to influence the Authority’s policies
any financial interests which could conflict with the Authority’s interests
membership of any organisation not open to public without formal
membership and with a commitment of allegiance which has secrecy
about rules of membership or conduct
membership of any organisation which is involved with the Authority in
any formal way such as through any decision making process
involvement with a corporate body involved in commercial dealings
with the Authority
Any disclosure of interest will be recorded and reviewed at least annually.
If present at a meeting of the Authority, such as committee, when a matter in
which any of the above interests are being discussed an Officer should, in
accordance with the Authority’s rules, declare their interests and leave the
meeting unless the Members ask them to stay.
Any manager who receives a declaration of interest from an Officer must seek
the advice of an appropriate Officer of the Authority as listed below before
authorising any action if they are at all unsure about the appropriateness of
the action concerned:







5.8

Chief Fire Officer
Deputy Chief Fire Officer
Assistant Chief Fire Officer
Monitoring Officer/ Clerk to the Fire Authority
Head of Finance & Treasurer
Head of People and Organisational Development

Gifts and hospitality
From time to time employees may be offered gifts in the form of free tickets,
discounts or hospitality (this is not an exhaustive list) by external companies
or other organisations in relation to their job.
Not all offers need be turned down – this will very much depend upon the
value and incentive for making the offer. However, all gifts and offers must be

Page 105

disclosed and a judgement made as to whether it is acceptable. Any gifts or
offers over the value of £25 must be recorded on the Corporate Gifts and
Hospitality Register. For the avoidance of doubt, always declare such offers
so that a judgement can be made.

5.9

Sponsorship
The Service may sometimes offer sponsorship to groups that undertake
activities that we wish to support.
Employees may not agree to sponsorship arrangements without authority to
do so, or act in any manner which would lead to the financial gain for
themselves, a family member, friend or associate.

5.10

Custody and Security of Assets, Stores etc
Employees have a responsibility to properly use and safeguard money,
property and equipment belonging to the Fire Authority. Loss, misuse,
negligence or criminal activity which results in a financial loss to the Service
may lead to the Service seeking restitution by those employees involved. In
the case of potential criminal action the Service will refer the matter to the
police.

5.11

Breach of these codes
Any breach of these codes will result in investigation and possible disciplinary
action. In certain circumstances, breaches may also lead to criminal
investigations.

Page 106

SECTION 5: INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY, INCLUDING DATA
6.1

Use of IT systems
The Service has policies governing the use of its IT systems and equipment.
These must always be adhered to. Employees must familiarise themselves
with these policies, and seek the advisement of the Head of IT if in any doubt:





6.2

POL-2083 Email Policy (link)
POL-2084 Internet Acceptable Use Policy (link)
POL-2085 Personal Commitment Policy (link)
POL-2086 Mobile Computing Policy (link)

Safeguarding of Data and Systems
All employees have a duty to retain the security of the systems and data and
must only access those parts of the ICT system that they are personally
authorised to use.
Personal logins and passwords must be protected and ever be transferred or
shared between employees or others. If an employee believes their password
or equipment has been compromised in any way they shall immediately report
it to ICT.

6.3

Data Protection/ GDPR
The Service has a Data Protection Policy. This can be found here (link).
The proper use and safeguarding of data, particularly personal data, is critical
and all employees are required to manage data in a secure, confidential and
appropriate way. Breaches of the Data Protection Policy will be investigated
under the disciplinary procedure.

Page 107

SECTION 6: RELATIONS WITH MEMBERS OF THE FIRE AUTHORITY

7.1

Political neutrality
Employees serve the Fire Authority as a whole. It follows that they must
serve all Councillors and must ensure that the individual rights of all
Councillors are respected.
Some senior employees may also be required to advise political groups.
They must do so in ways which do not compromise their political neutrality.
Certain roles are “politically restricted” and must adhere to restrictions in
place.

7.2

Member/Officer Protocol
Officers who, as part of their roles, have regular contact with Councillors, must
adhere to the Member/Officer Protocol which contains guidance on disclosure
of information to Members of the Authority. This is attached as Appendix 2.

7.3

Officer’s and Member’s Roles
Officers and Members are expected to work within and pursue the Authority’s
policies. Equally Members must not interfere with operational matters that are
the responsibility of managers.
Officers of the Authority have, in broad terms, the following main roles:


They are the managers of the services for which the Authority has
given them responsibility. They are accountable for the efficiency and
effectiveness of those services and for proper professional practice in
discharging their responsibilities.



They are the professional advisors to the Authority, its political
structures and Members in respect of their service and, as such, their
professionalism should be respected.



They may initiate policy proposals as well as being implementers of
agreed policy.



They ensure that the Authority always acts in a lawful manner.



Officers can only advise Members on Authority issues and business
and Members may not ask Officers to breach Authority policy or
procedures.

Members can expect Officers to:Page 108



Maintain due confidentiality



Perform their duties effectively and efficiently



Behave in a professional manner, and



Be helpful and respectful to Members

7.4
7.5

Officer/Member Relationships
Mutual respect between Officers and Members is essential to good local
government. Close personal familiarity between Officers and individual
Members or between Officers can damage the relationship and prove
embarrassing to other Officers and Members and must therefore be avoided.
Close personal relationships between Officers working together or between
Members and Officers may cause a perception of bias or favouritism. To
avoid this problem, Officers must declare to their Manager: any close personal relationship with another Officer in the same section
or area of work; or any close personal relationship with a Member.
It is not possible to define exactly the range of relationships that would be
considered as close or personal. Examples, however, would include a family
or sexual relationship and regular social mixing such as holidays or evening
meals together.
The Authority has adopted a Member/Officer Protocol. If you regularly have
contact with Members, you should read and understand the protocol.

7.6

The Local Community and Service Users
Officers must always remember their responsibilities to the community they
serve and ensure courteous, efficient and impartial service delivery to all
groups and individuals within the community as defined by the policies of the
Authority.

7.7

Contractors
All relationships of a business or private nature with external contractors, or
potential contractors, must be known to the appropriate manager. Orders and
contracts must be awarded on merit in accordance with the Authority’s
Financial and Contracts Rules and the Best Value regime and no special
favour must be shown to businesses run by, for example, friends, partners or
relatives in the tendering process. No part of the local community must be
discriminated against.
If Officers engage or supervise contractors or have any other official
relationship with contractors and have previously had or currently have a
relationship in a private or domestic capacity with the contractors, they must
declare that relationship at the earliest opportunity to their manager.

Page 109

Page 110

Support information

Appendices
Appendix One – How we will deliver on the Five Fire and Rescue Service
Ethical Principles

Page 111

Appendix 1
How we will deliver the Five Fire and Rescue Service Ethical Principles
Community at our Heart
We will put the interest of the public, the community, and service users
at the heart of all that we do.
To achieve this, we will:


Act with the interest of the public at the heart of everything we do



Be selfless in our service to the community and act with empathy,
compassion, and respect. We will always involve, consult, and listen to
people to ensure that we continue to have a wider understanding of
the impact that service activity has on improved community outcomes



Be concerned more with the needs of others than our own



Foster and enable continuous improvement and be committed to
developing an FRS which delivers improved community outcomes
through efficient and effective service delivery



Continually demonstrate our commitment to improving public safety,
with public benefit and value at the centre of everything we do



Be ambassadors and role models for our FRS, maintaining an honest,
open, and transparent approach



Be a positive presence in our communities, having high personal
integrity and enhancing our reputation within our communities.

Integrity
We will act with integrity including being open, honest, truthful, accurate and
consistent in our actions, words, decisions, methods, and outcomes.
To achieve this, we will:


Value honesty, probity, accuracy, clarity, and fairness in our interactions
with everybody whether within the FRS or externally, and seek to
promote integrity in all aspects of our professional endeavours



Act and take decisions in an open and transparent manner using all
evidence and the data available

 Continue to foster trust and build collaborative working relationships,
demonstrating a clear and accepted understanding of our roles and
responsibilities
Page 112

 Welcome and encourage challenge, and be willing to adapt our thinking
and respond appropriately
 Recognise and challenge behaviour where it falls short of these ethical
principles
 Avoid placing ourselves under any obligation to people or organisations
that might try inappropriately to influence our work. We will remain
impartial and objective
 Never act or take decisions to gain financial or other material benefits for
personal gain. We will declare and resolve any interests and relationships
and maintain personal and professional boundaries
 Remain consistent in our ethical and moral behaviour, ensuring that is it
reflective of the FRS cultural values that make it a positive place to work.
Dignity and Respect
We will treat people with dignity and respect, making decisions objectively
based on evidence, without discrimination or bias.
To achieve this, we will:
 Always demonstrate unbiased judgement and behaviour and act in a
respectful manner. We will act with decency and impartiality. Recognising
and understanding unconscious biases will allow FRSs to consider all
perspectives when making decisions
 Strive to do the right thing using strong moral and ethical principles in
delivering effective public services and in working together
 Remain committed to supporting the development of all staff and
ensuring a transparent, objective, and consistent approach to recruitment,
progression, and the management of performance
 Act in a way that creates an environment of openness and trust
 Treat people with respect at all times and without discrimination,
harassment, or bullying. There is no place in our FRS for such behaviours
and we will challenge and address any form of inappropriate behaviour.
Leadership
We will be positive role models, always demonstrating flexible and resilient
leadership at all levels.

Page 113

We will be accountable for our behaviour, decisions and actions and challenge
all behaviour that falls short of the highest standards.
To achieve this, we will:
 Be committed as senior leaders to the implementation of this Core Code
and drive the strategies that underpin this.
 Take responsibility for continuous improvement in our performance
 Remain accountable to the public, our employers, and each other and, as
such, accountable for our decisions and actions
 Be willing to take responsibility for our own actions and for the
consequences associated with our actions
 Recognise leaders emerge at all levels within an organisation and it is
incumbent upon all leaders to role model positive behaviours within both
the workplace and the community.

Equality, Diversity & Inclusion (EDI)
We will continually recognise and promote the value of EDI, both within the
Fire and Rescue Service and the wider communities in which we serve.
We will stand against all forms of discrimination, create equal opportunities,
promote equality, foster good relations, and celebrate difference.
To achieve this, we will:
 Listen to, understand, and recognise the diverse needs of people to
ensure that information, services, and products are accessible and
inclusive
 Ensure that our buildings, facilities, and procurement processes reflect
our strong commitment to EDI
 Recognise that unconscious bias exists and ensure that we take the
perspective of all groups into account when making decisions or
developing policies
 Demonstrate behaviours which recognise and celebrate the values of
diversity of thought, identity, culture, background, and experience, both
within the workforce and our communities
 Challenge and address any discriminatory behaviours, policies, and
procedures

Page 114

 Continue to address under-representation in our workforce at all levels
and may use lawful positive action measures to do this
 Attract, recruit, and develop a talented and diverse workforce and will help
all employees to develop their professional potential, ensuring that we
continue to learn from each other.

Page 115

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham
Fire and Rescue Authority

JOINT HEADQUARTERS
COLLABORATION UPDATE
Report of the Chief Fire Officer

Date:

24 September 2021

Purpose of Report:
To present Members with an update on the Joint Headquarters collaboration project.

Recommendations:
That Members note the progress of the Joint Headquarters programme.

CONTACT OFFICER
Name:

Candida Brudenell
Assistant Chief Fire Officer

Tel:

0115 967 0880

Email:

candida.brudenell@notts-fire.gov.uk

Media Enquiries
Contact:

Simon Cotton
0115 967 0880 simon.cotton@notts-fire.gov.uk

Page 117

1.

BACKGROUND

1.1

At the 15 February 2019 Fire Authority meeting, Members approved the
relocation of Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (NFRS) to a Joint
Headquarters with Nottinghamshire Police at Sherwood Lodge, Nottingham.

1.2

Since the approval of this collaboration, the Service has progressed a
programme of works to facilitate not only the new build project requirements
of the site but also seven other workstreams and projects required to ensure
a smooth transition.

1.3

NFRS and Nottinghamshire Police facilitate a Strategic Collaboration Board
and a Collaboration Delivery Board, as well as a Joint Headquarters
Programme Board, to oversee the collaboration between the two services.

2.

REPORT

2.1

The transition to the Joint Headquarters at Sherwood Lodge is being
managed through eight individual projects and coordinated through the Joint
Headquarters Programme Board. This Board is chaired by the Assistant
Chief Fire Officer.

2.2

The Programme Board operates through a series of quarterly meetings
incorporating Project Leads from NFRS and Nottinghamshire Police.

2.3

The current programme risk register highlights a ‘green’ status with the
programme running on-time and within budget.

2.4

The redevelopment project of the new building at Sherwood Lodge remains
on-track and due to be completed by the end of 2021. The new building will
host the Police Force Control Room, co-located personnel from NFRS and
Nottinghamshire Police, a state-of-the-art gym for personnel, as well as
meeting rooms and canteen facilities; the latter continuing to be provided by
PulpFriction.

2.5

The majority of NFRS teams and departments will be located within the
current Sherwood Lodge buildings which are due to be renovated prior to the
transition of teams. An approach of co-locating comparable teams has been
adopted, where possible, to enable greater collaborative working.

2.6

The Legal Framework and accompanying financial projects of the
Programme have been closed, as previously reported to the Policy and
Strategy Committee, the Fire Authority and the Strategic Collaboration Board.

2.7

NFRS and Nottinghamshire Police have introduced Joint Employee Forums
and Joint Employee Updates in order to ensure that personnel from both
organisations remain informed regarding developments and have the
opportunity to engage with colleagues from each organisation.

Page 118

2.8

This collaborative approach has led to the establishment of a Joint Women’s
Forum between the two organisations and plans are progressing to bring
together other forums to assist in the transition and integration of personnel.

2.9

NFRS are progressing the People workstream including internal employee
forums, personal consultation meetings and engagement with all personnel
who will be affected by the move.

2.10

The Service continues to ensure effective communications through the
employment of a dedicated Joint Headquarters Communications Officer;
ensuring that personnel are kept abreast of developments in a timely manner.

2.11

A specific branding workstream has been established to ensure that joint
branding is approved and adopted on the site and that each organisation can
maintain its own identity. The branding designs, retaining each
organisation’s current insignia, will be progressed through the collaboration
governance meetings for approval.

2.12

The Service plans for the Fire Investigation team to be the first relocation of
resources in November 2021; collocating with the Nottinghamshire Police
Crime Scene Investigation team.

2.13

Other NFRS teams will transition over to their new accommodation, in a
phased approach, through Spring 2022 with the majority of personnel being
relocated to their new places of work by April 2022.

2.14

A paper outlining recommendations for the disposal of the current
headquarters site at Bestwood Lodge was received by Members in July 2021
and work progresses to facilitate the approved recommendations.

3.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no financial implications arising from this report.
4.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT
IMPLICATIONS

All human resources implications are being dealt with through a specific ‘People’
workstream within the Programme. There are no learning and development
implications arising from the report.
5.
5.1

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
Equality impact assessments (EIAs) have been completed throughout the
Programme and continue to influence the approach of the projects. Specific
EIAs have been undertaken for some minority groups to ensure that specific
impacts are considered and addressed.

Page 119

5.2

6.

An accessibility assessment has been undertaken for the refurbishment and
new build projects to ensure the facilities are accessible to the Service’s
personnel and visitors.
CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report.
7.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

The Authority has a statutory duty, under the Police and Crime Act 2017, to keep
collaborative opportunities under review and, where it is in the interests of efficiency
or effectiveness, to put those collaboration opportunities into practice.
8.

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

8.1

The Joint Headquarters Programme Board maintains a current risk register,
formed from highlights on the project risk registers.

8.2

The current risk register does not highlight any significant risks to the success
of the Programme which is currently reporting on-track and within budget.

9.

COLLABORATION IMPLICATIONS

The facilitation of the Joint Headquarters collaboration will enable closer working
with a key partner, Nottinghamshire Police. The colocation has already enabled
closer working between personnel and will enable further opportunities to be
explored under the new Community Risk Management Plan, 2022-25.
10.

RECOMMENDATIONS

That Members note the progress of the Joint Headquarters programme.
11.

BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED
DOCUMENTS)

None.

John Buckley
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER

Page 120

Agenda Item 11

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham
Fire and Rescue Authority

ANNUAL REPORT OF
INFORMATION GOVERNANCE
2020/21
Report of the Chief Fire Officer

Date:

24 September 2021

Purpose of Report:
To give the Fire Authority an update on information governance at Nottinghamshire
Fire and Rescue Service for the year 2020/21.

Recommendations:
That Members note the contents of this report.

CONTACT OFFICER

Name :

Candida Brudenell
Assistant Chief Fire Officer

Tel :

0115 967 0880

Email :

candida.brudenell@notts-fire.gov.uk

Media Enquiries
Contact :

Simon Cotton
0115 967 0880 simon.cotton@notts-fire.gov.uk

Page 121

1.

BACKGROUND

1.1

Data protection and public sector transparency are continued priorities for the
United Kingdom (UK) government – and Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue
Service (NFRS). In May 2018 new data protection requirements entered UK
law (the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection
Regulation). Risks from non-compliance include significant fines from the
Information Commissioner and potential harm to the reputation of NFRS.

1.2

NFRS shares information with other agencies to reduce fire risks and to
protect communities. Members are aware of the continued need for multiagency working and the role of technology in delivery of public services,
including during the pandemic. These factors demand an ongoing focus on
staff awareness and risk controls.

1.3

In 2017 the Policy and Strategy Committee agreed that NFRS would provide
an Information Governance report annually to the full Fire Authority, covering:





1.4

2.
2.1

Overview of Freedom of Information requests;
Overview of Environmental Information requests;
Data protection areas of interest;
Report on Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) activity or
inactivity.

This annual report covers Information Governance for April 2020 to March
2021.
REPORT
In March 2020 the Information Commissioner’s Office announced it
recognised the COVID-19 pandemic may affect organisations’ timescales of
compliance with public information rights.

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION
2.2

2.3

The Freedom of Information Act 2000 provides public access to information
held by NFRS. It does this in two ways:


NFRS must publish certain information about activities, for example,
financial information and service performance;



Members of the public can request any information NFRS holds.
There are limited reasons to refuse such requests, for example, national
security or a high cost to comply with the request.

Transparency, and having the ‘right to know’, is widely acknowledged as a
key part of ensuring public confidence and trust from communities.

Page 122

2.4

Between April 2020 and March 2021 NFRS received 108 Freedom of
Information requests. This is less than the average of 136 requests a year
from the previous three years. This year’s lower number is assumed to be an
effect of the COVID-19 pandemic.

2.5

This year’s Freedom of Information requests covered a wide range of
information including:







High rise safety;
Community safety;
Incident data;
Fleet information;
ICT contracts;
COVID-19 absences.

2.6

88% of Freedom of Information requests were replied to within 20 working
days. This is just outside the Information Commissioner’s target of 90%.
However, the Information Commissioner’s Office recognised the COVID-19
pandemic may affect organisations’ timescales of compliance with public
information rights, including Freedom of Information.

2.7

NFRS publishes information about service performance and finance of on the
NFRS public website as well as a sample of freedom of information replies of
wider public interest.

ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION REQUESTS
2.8

The Environmental Information Regulations 2004 sit alongside the Freedom
of Information Act to ensure public access to environmental information held
by public bodies.

2.9

The Regulations affect NFRS in two ways:

2.10



NFRS must make environmental information available proactively. For
example, publish on the website policies, plans and programmes relating
to the environment;



Members of the public can request environmental information NFRS hold.
There are limited reasons to refuse such requests, for example, national
security or it would cost too much to comply with the request.

No information requests received April 2020-March 2021 were classified as
Environmental Information requests.

DATA PROTECTION
2.11 NFRS values the correct use of personal information as critical to successful
operations and in keeping the confidence of the public, employees, and
stakeholders.

Page 123

2.12 Data protection responsibilities affect all staff at NFRS, as all teams
potentially deal with information about people – whether it is information
about fellow staff or the public.
2.13 Responsibilities for correct use of personal information about individual
members of the public and members of staff are set out in the Data
Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR).
2.14 No NFRS data incidents needed reporting to the Information Commissioner’s
Office in the year 2020/21.
2.15 In the year 2020/21 work continued to support GDPR compliance. This
included new data protection eLearning for all staff. Every two years all staff
need to complete data protection eLearning, with refresher activities in the
alternate year.
2.16 With the increased homeworking due to the pandemic, particular focus has
been given to ensuring that any data being used away from the workplace is
also being held safely and securely.
2.17 Cyber-attack risks affect every organisation. Due to the importance of
protecting information NFRS use, including personal information, work is
continually undertaken to keep NFRS cyber security measures up to date.
The ICT Security department has renewed Cyber Essentials Plus certification
for NFRS. Work continues for the Emergency Services Network (ESN)
communications system - replacement for the current Airwave service used
by the emergency services in Great Britain. NFRS ICT policies and
procedures help ensure continual maintenance of NFRS cyber security and
the protection of information and data within NFRS ICT systems, including for
remote access and home working.
2.18 As a public authority, NFRS requires a Data Protection Officer under GDPR.
The Service’s Data Protection Officer can be contacted at
DataProtection@notts-fire.gov.uk
REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 (RIPA)
2.19 NFRS is authorised by the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000
(RIPA) to undertake some types of covert investigation for the prevention or
detection of crime, the prevention of disorder, or in the interests of public
safety. (The UK Government removed Fire and Rescue Services from
access to Communications Data under RIPA in July 2020.)
2.20

Investigatory actions under RIPA for NFRS could include, for example, false
persona used to get information in closed social media groups about events
with a high fire risk, unannounced photographs from an unmarked vehicle or
non-identified staff to check use of a premises with a fire safety prohibition
notice.

2.21 There were no applications for covert investigations at NFRS under RIPA
from April 2020 to March 2021.

Page 124

3.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no financial implications arising from this report.
4.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT
IMPLICATIONS

All NFRS staff are required to complete Data Protection training every two years,
with an awareness activity in the alternate year to help manage information risks.
Quarterly completion checks run for new and returning staff.
5.

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

An equality impact assessment has not been undertaken because this is an
information report with no recommended changes.
6.

CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report.
7.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

This report is designed to give the Fire Authority assurance that NFRS is meeting its
legal duties under Freedom of Information, Data Protection and RIPA.
8.

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

8.1

The Information Governance Manager role helps ensure NFRS meets
Freedom of Information requirements.

8.2

Work across the Service, supported by the Information Governance Manager
in the role of Data Protection Officer, helps NFRS meet duties under Data
Protection law. Measures include privacy impact assessments for new uses
of data, privacy notices, information sharing agreements, training for all staff,
and audits of data protection measures. These measures help NFRS protect
personal information and help make sure personal information is available
when needed. This reduces the risk of non-compliance with data protection
requirements, reducing the risk of reputational damage to NFRS and
reducing the risk of fines under the UK General Data Protection Regulation
(UK GDPR) and Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA 2018).

8.3

Procedures are in place to help identify any data loss or near miss, with clear
incident response and risk assessment processes. As it is a 24-hour service
NFRS ensures Data Protection Officer (DPO) advice is available within the
statutory window of 72 hours to report a serious personal data breach. Bank
holidays and DPO leave are covered Monday – Friday in collaboration with
Page 125

Derbyshire Fire & Rescue Service and South Yorkshire Fire & Rescue
Service.
8.4

9.

Regular RIPA training is provided for all NFRS staff potentially involved in
applying or authorising covert surveillance under RIPA. This reduces the risk
of non-compliance and reduces the risk of prejudicing the value of any
evidence gathered under RIPA.
COLLABORATION IMPLICATIONS

9.1 The DPA 2018 and UK GDPR include the duty for notification of serious
personal data breaches to the Information Commissioner. NFRS has a nil-cost
Service Level Agreement with Derbyshire Fire & Rescue Service and South
Yorkshire Fire & Rescue Service ensuring bank holiday and absence cover for
information breach reporting to the Information Commissioner (where needed
within 72 hours).
9.2 The IG Manager continues to share good practice and sample documents, and
explore future collaboration, with other Fire and Rescue Services, regionally
and across England and Wales, and is a member of Nottinghamshire
Information Officers Group.
10.

RECOMMENDATIONS

That Members note the contents of this report.
11.

BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED
DOCUMENTS)

None.

John Buckley
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER

Page 126

Agenda Item 12

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham
Fire and Rescue Authority

REVIEW OF STATEMENT 0F
INTENT
Report of the Chief Fire Officer

Date:

24 September 2021

Purpose of Report:
To advise Members that NFRS’s Written Safety Policy Statement of Intent has been
reviewed to ensure that it remains current.

Recommendations:
That Members endorse the content of the updated Written Safety Policy to reaffirm
their commitment to effective health and safety risk management for employees and
others who are affected by the Service’s activities.

CONTACT OFFICER
Name:

John Buckley
Chief Fire Officer

Tel:

0115 9670880

Email:

john.buckley@notts-fire.gov.uk

Media Enquiries
Contact:

Simon Cotton
0115 967 0880 simon.cotton@notts-fire.gov.uk

Page 127

1.

BACKGROUND

1.1

Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (NFRS) is required to produce and
then periodically review and revise a Written Safety Policy (WSP) which
outlines its approach to identifying the hazards and associated risk to
employees and others who may be affected by the work of the Service.

1.2

An important part of the WSP is its initial Statement of Intent which indicates
the commitment of the organisation to a high standard of health and safety
risk management.

1.3

The Statement of Intent must indicate the approach to be taken and be
endorsed by signature by those who represent the organisation, its
employees, and its values.

1.4

The current Statement of Intent was last considered and endorsed by CFA on
27 November 2020.

2.

REPORT

2.1

The purpose of this report is to gain endorsement from the Fire Authority for
the review of the NFRS Health and Safety Statement of Intent, attached as
Appendix A to this report.

2.2

The content of the current Statement of Intent accurately reflects the
Service’s approach to discharging its Duty of Care to its employees and
others affected by its work activities. The policy statement is reviewed each
year by the Service’s competent person for health and safety who will ensure
the statement reflects current legislation, best practice and advise as to the
priorities and approach to be adopted by Service.

2.3

Following the review of the Statement of Intent, there are no changes to be
made.

2.4

The document is underpinned by further details within the NFRS Written
Safety Policy; together the two elements form an auditable approach to
achieving and maintaining safe systems of work.

2.5

Endorsement signatures of the Chief Fire Officer and the Chair of the Fire
Authority will continue to provide confirmation of the Services high level
commitment to the management of health and safety.

3.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no financial implications arising from this report.

Page 128

4.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT
IMPLICATIONS

There are no human resources implications associated with the report.
Current learning and development provision considers health and safety risk
management issues as defined by the Statement of Intent.
5.

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

An equality impact assessment has not been undertaken because equality issues
arising have been previously identified and addressed.
6.

CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report.
7.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

The production of a Written Safety Policy - inclusive of the Statement of Intent, is a
requirement under the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974
8.

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

The Statement of Intent provides a basis for NFRS’s commitment to identifying
hazards, quantifying risk, and applying proportionate risk controls as a means of
reducing loss to ensure it maximises its reducing budget.
9.

COLLABORATION IMPLICATIONS

There are no collaboration implications arising from this report.
10.

RECOMMENDATIONS

That Members endorse the content of the updated Written Safety Policy to reaffirm
their commitment to effective health and safety risk management for employees and
others who are affected by the Service’s activities.

Page 129

11.

BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED
DOCUMENTS)

None.

John Buckley
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER

Page 130

HEALTH & SAFETY at WORK etc. ACT 1974
Nottinghamshire Fire & Rescue Service
Written Safety Policy

Statement of Intent
Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service [NFRS] is committed to ensuring the health, safety, and welfare of all
its employees - and the health and safety of those non-employees affected by its work activities - and has
devised a Safety Management System which is detailed in its Written Safety Policy. Application of this Policy will
contribute to improved service delivery.
This Statement of Intent forms the first of the three parts to the Written Safety Policy, the contents of which
continue to be developed, discussed, and adopted. They are audited, reviewed, and then revised as necessary.
It is NFRS’s intention to strive to ensure a safe and healthy working environment as part of its wider risk
management initiatives and to pursue progressive improvements in health and safety risk management
performance. Its employees are a key resource and have a vital part to play in implementing the Policy.
To achieve this the Service will consider:
 the equipment that is used by employees to do their work;
 the premises where they carry out their work;
 the information, instruction, training, and supervision they receive;
 the substances they use and encounter;
 the suitable and sufficient risk controls they need to follow - as indicated by objective risk assessment;
 occupational health and fitness matters;
 the competence of employees in terms of health and safety;
 the need for effective communication of health and safety risk management information.
The following approach will be applied:
 constructive dialogue with employee representatives;
 recognition that legal requirements are the minimum;
 ultimate responsibility for matters of health, safety and welfare resting with the Chief Fire Officer with the
Deputy Chief Fire Officer having delegated day-to-day responsibility;
 provision of the necessary expert advice when needed;
 inclusion of best practice as identified in other organisations;
 linkage of risk assessments to site specific risk information, incident monitoring and incident debrief.
 application of risk assessment to the procurement of equipment and services;
 identification of targets for improvements in risk management;
 inclusion of risk management aims in the organisation’s Integrated Risk Management Plan;
 recognition of the importance of health and safety risk management objectives in relation to other service
objectives;
 recognition that failures of health and safety risk management controls are not necessarily the fault of
individual employees;
 integration of risk management considerations into all management decisions;
 auditing of compliance with the standards given in the Written Safety Policy;
 annual consideration of health and safety performance by the Combined Fire Authority.
All employees will play a part in the Safety Management System and resources will be made available to
achieve the necessary safety culture based on risk assessment and the “safe person” concept.
The standards outlined in the Written Safety Policy will be applied in the spirit of fairness and dignity and the
above Statement of Intent applies to future legal requirements as well as current ones.
Endorsed by the Combined Fire Authority at its meeting of ………………..
Signed

Chief Fire Officer

Signed

FOA

Signed

Chair of CFA

Signed

UNISON

Signed

FBU

Page 131

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 13

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham
Fire and Rescue Authority

ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY
POLICY STATEMENT
Report of the Chief Fire Officer

Date:

24 September 2021

Purpose of Report:
To advise Members that the NFRS Written Environment and Sustainability Policy
Statement has been reviewed to ensure that it remains current.

Recommendations:
It is recommended that Members:


Endorse the Policy Statement to reaffirm commitment to the Environment and
Sustainability Policy.



Support a further in-year review to ensure that the Policy Statement aligns with
the environmental and sustainability aspirations in the Community Risk
Management Plan due for publication April 2022.

CONTACT OFFICER
Name:

John Buckley
Chief Fire Officer

Tel:

0115 9670880

Email:

john.buckley@notts-fire.gov.uk

Media Enquiries
Contact:

Simon Cotton
0115 967 0880 simon.cotton@notts-fire.gov.uk

Page 133

1.

BACKGROUND

1.1

Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (NFRS) produced an Environment
and Sustainability Policy Statement following the 2014-2019 service
Priorities.

1.2

The 2019 – 2021 Strategic Plan continues to build on previous achievements
and continues to support Environment and Sustainability considerations
within the Service, which requires the Environment and Sustainability Policy
Statement to be reviewed at periodically.

1.3

Improvement in environmental sustainability continues to be a priority and will
continue to be a focus of the new Community Risk Management Plan
(CRMP) which will be launched in April 2022.

1.3

The Environmental and Sustainability Policy Statement indicates the
continuous commitment within the Service providing an overview of
Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Services’ aims with regards to its impact on
the environment.

1.4

NFRS’s current Environment and Sustainability Policy Statement was last
considered and endorsed by CFA on 27 November 2021.

2.

REPORT

2.1

The purpose of this report is to gain endorsement from the Fire Authority for
the review of the NFRS Environment and Sustainability Policy Statement,
attached as Appendix to this report. The policy statement is reviewed each
year by the Service lead for environment and sustainability matters who will
ensure the statement reflects current legislation, best practice and advise as
to the priorities and approach to be adopted by Service.

2.2

The content of the current Environment and Sustainability Policy Statement
communicates the commitment of both the Service and the Authority and
reflects NFRSs approach to discharging its duty of care to minimise its impact
on the environment. It has been revised to ensure the legislation is the most
up to date, and appropriate terminology used.

2.3

The document is underpinned by further details within NFRS’s Written Safety
Policy; together the two elements form an auditable approach to achieving
and maintaining safe systems of work.

2.4

Endorsement signatures of the Chief Fire Officer and the Chair of the Fire
Authority will continue to provide continued confirmation of the Services high
level commitment to the management of environmental risk.

2.5

Given the interdependencies between this statement and the environment
and sustainability aspirations which will be outlined in the CRMP, Members

Page 134

are asked to agree to a mid-year review of this statement to ensure it
accurately reflects the objectives laid out in the CRMP.
3.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

3.1

Although not directly related to the endorsement of the Policy Statement,
there may be financial implications arising from environmental risk
management initiatives in the future.

3.2

It is anticipated that improved environmental risk management can be used
to achieve efficiency savings, for example reduced spending on vehicle fuel
and energy bills. Any implications that arise will be reported to the Fire
Authority as appropriate.

4.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT
IMPLICATIONS

One of the aims of the Policy Statement is to raise the awareness of employees to
environmental issues. Training currently includes elements of environmental risk
management for all operational employees and enhanced training for a core group
of Officers who are available as environmental advisors during incidents.
5.

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

An Equality Impact Assessment has not been undertaken because the Policy
Statement does not introduce new policy or services.
6.

CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report.
7.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

NFRS must comply with applicable environmental legislation. Non-compliance can
result in criminal sanction. By following available good practice, the Authority can be
assured of meeting its legal responsibilities.
8.

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

The policy statement provides a basis for Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue
Service’s commitment to identifying hazards, quantifying risk, and applying
proportionate risk controls as a means of reducing loss.

Page 135

9.

COLLABORATION IMPLICATIONS

There are no collaboration implications arising from this report.
10.

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that Members:
10.1

Endorse the Policy Statement to reaffirm commitment to the
Environment and Sustainability Policy.

10.2

Support a further in-year review to ensure that the Policy
Statement aligns with the environmental and sustainability aspirations in the
Community Risk Management Plan due for publication April 2022.

11.

BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED
DOCUMENTS)

None.

John Buckley
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER

Page 136

Environment and Sustainability Policy Statement
Nottinghamshire Fire & Rescue Service

Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service [NFRS] is fully committed to minimising the impact that the
organisational activities have on the environment. The Service is aware that factors such as changing climate,
resource, scarcity, and the generation of waste will all have an effect on our local communities and that NFRS
has a duty to reduce our impact on the environment where possible to do so.

Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service aims to minimise its impact on the environment by:
 Setting targets on key aspects of our environmental performance and reviewing them periodically
 Reducing carbon emissions from our buildings by investing in energy efficient design and technology during
construction and refurbishment projects, better managing energy consumption and influencing colleagues’
behaviour
 Reducing greenhouse gas emissions from vehicles by managing business travel, reducing the need to
travel by the use of video conferencing and other technology, encouraging the use of public transport and
other less polluting forms of transportation
 Raising employee’s awareness of environmental issues, encouraging environmentally responsible
behaviour, and providing appropriate training to enable them in playing a full role in implementing
environmental objectives
 Reducing the volume of waste which is produced at our sites with an ultimate aim of sending zero waste to
landfill
 Applying industry best practice when considering the environmental impact of our work at fires and other
incidents to reduce the risk of contamination of air, land, and water courses.
NFRS’s duty extends beyond merely reducing environmental impacts to ensuring we fulfil our responsibility for
‘creating safer communities’ by responding to flooding and other events associated with a changing climate.

The Service will continue to:
Work with the Environmental Agency and other local organisations to review the areas of flood risk with
Nottinghamshire and ensure appropriate equipment, resources and trained firefighters are available to respond
to flooding when they are needed

Endorsed by the Combined Fire Authority at its meeting of ………………..
Signed

Chief Fire Officer

Signed

Chair of CFA

Page 137

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 15

Document is Restricted

Page 139

This page is intentionally left blank

